

CHRISTUS St. Vincent 2023–2025 Community Health Needs Assessment

OUR COMMUNITY'S HEALTH AND WELLBEING JOURNEY



Table of Contents

- 01 Executive Summary
- 03 Introduction
- 03 Purpose of the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)

04 2023–2025 Methodology & Community Input

Evaluation of 2020-2022 CHNA

Data Collection

Public Input & Board Approval

Lifespan Areas & Priorities

2023–2025 Super Priorities

09 Community Demographics

12 Hospital Utilization Data

14 Health Equity & Barriers to Care

24 Maternal & Early Childhood Health

Indicator 1: Healthy Pregnancy Indicator 2: Healthy Births Indicator 3: Healthy Infants & Toddlers

32 School-Age Children & Adolescent Health

Indicator 1: Depression & Suicide Attempts Indicator 2: Substance Use Indicator 3: Resiliency Indicator 4: Obesity

39 Adult Behavioral Health

Indicator 1: Drug Overdose Deaths Indicator 2: Alcohol-Related Deaths Indicator 3: Suicide Deaths

46 Adult Physical Health

Indicator 1: Heart Disease Death

Indicator 2: Cancer Death

Indicator 3: Diabetes Diagnosis & Death Indicator 4: Food

Insecurity & Fruit/ Vegetable Consumption

53 Women's Health

Indicator 1: Domestic Violence Indicator 2: Sexual Violence Indicator 3: Chronic Homelessness

58 Older Adult Health

Indicator 1: Routine Access to Care Indicator 2: Social Isolation Indicator 3: Caregiver Burden

65 Acknowledgments

66 Endnotes























Childhood Health

Maternal & Early School-Age Children Adult Behavioral & Adolescent Health

Health



Women's Health

Older Adult Health

Executive Summary

CHRISTUS St. Vincent's history of serving Santa Fe County and Northern New Mexico originates in 1865 when the Sisters of Charity of Cincinnati founded St. Vincent's Hospital-New Mexico's first hospital. From 1865 to 1977, the Sisters of Charity of Cincinnati cared for community members regardless of their ability to pay. In 1977, the current campus opened, and the Sisters turned operations over to lay administrators and the Board of Directors. In 2008, St. Vincent Hospital partnered with CHRISTUS Health to ensure its long-term viability. CHRISTUS Health is a non-profit health care system with hospitals, medical clinics, and other related services Texas, Louisiana, Mexico, Chile, and Columbia in addition to New Mexico. CHRISTUS Health shares a similar rich history and commitment to serving the sick, the poor, and the most vulnerable. CHRISTUS St. Vincent is called to be involved in our community—to contribute to the common good. Strengthening the overall health of our community involves serving individuals experiencing social and economic conditions that place them at society's margins.

The CHRISTUS St. Vincent 2023–2025 Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) describes Santa Fe County's health status and prioritizes the most substantial challenges to well-being experienced by its residents. We approach community health and well-being over the course of a human lifespan—Maternal & Early Childhood Health, School-age Children & Adolescent Health, Adult Behavioral Health, Adult Physical Health, Women's Health, and Older Adult Health. These groupings facilitate a focused and in-depth understanding of the barriers to health experienced within each group. We also acknowledge the strong linkages across the lifespan and know that what happens in one stage of life often impacts or determines what will happen in the next.

The CHNA also examines the impact that inequities and barriers to care have on an individual's health, as well as, the health of the overall community. It studies the effects of social, structural, and environmental determinants of health. Also discussed are the impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACES) on health and well-being. Additionally, the CHNA highlights the experiences of American Indians, other racial and ethnic minorities, as well as, the experiences of the LGBTQIA+ community. Discrimination and prejudice have a significant impact on health outcomes because they create unfavorable conditions to wellness and can prevent access to care.

The CHNA also considers the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on Santa Fe County and surrounding communities. The pandemic highlighted some of the root causes of health inequities in our community, but it also provided opportunities for healthcare, community-based organizations, and local and state governments to work collaboratively in ways that had not existed prior to the pandemic. These strengthened relationships persist and will help the community collectively navigate a path forward.

Maternal & Early Childhood Health

Early childhood is a time of exceptional growth and development. A child's future success is strongly correlated with a strong and healthy start in life.³² Healthy development in the early years provides the building blocks for educational achievement, economic productivity, responsible citizenship, lifelong health, strong communities, and successful parenting of the next generation.

Pregnancy and the first months and years of life are key points in a child's development—it sets the trajectory for their future learning, growth, health, and emotional development. Support for babies and families includes having access to affordable and compassionate prenatal care, to services that families might need for their new infant and other children, nutrition, along with accessible high quality pediatric care and child care.

School-Age Children & Adolescent Health

Adolescence is a time of continued development and has specific health needs associated with it. Adolescents develop health and behavior patterns that can impact lifelong health and wellbeing. Chronic health conditions, including mental illnesses such as depression, can begin in adolescence and early interventions can dramatically improve outcomes.

Youth in our community do not have equal access to protective factors that improve health and well-being. We continue to see concerning data in depression, substance use, obesity, and other factors that make it more difficult for youth to flourish.

Adult Behavioral Health

Our community is plagued with problematic substance use and varying levels of mental illness. Deaths as a result of substance use and poor mental health illustrate the severity of mental health and substance use conditions in Santa Fe County, particularly in comparison to state and national rates. The cyclical and intergenerational nature of these issues also highlight why these indicators continue to be high priorities.

Adequate access to treatment is essential to solving the problem, and presently access is limited in Santa Fe and New Mexico. There are not enough mental health providers in Santa Fe County to meet the increasing demand—especially bilingual and bicultural providers. Services and intervention programs to prevent substance use disorders also are needed to comprehensively address the problem.⁸⁸

Adult Physical Health

The leading causes of death in Santa Fe County are heart disease and cancer. In 2020, Heart disease was the leading cause of death in Santa Fe County, and cancer was the second leading cause of death. The tenth leading cause of death in 2020 in Santa Fe County was diabetes.

Premature death because of heart disease, cancer, and diabetes impacts families and communities. It causes financial hardship, family strain, and emotional distress. Each of these diseases may be treated and sometimes can be cured or reversed if detected early and treated promptly. Inconsistent access to an adequate amount of nutritious food can have negative impacts on the health of individuals of all ages and can play a role in the development of these diseases. Food insecurity, nutrition, obesity, diabetes, heart disease, cancer, and other health issues are deeply intertwined and are not stand-alone issues. Food insecurity should be understood as a sign of heightened needs and risk because of its connection to others factors that impact health outcomes.

Women's Health

Inequality of power based on gender increases women and girls' experiences of physical, sexual, and emotional violence.¹⁰⁸ In Santa Fe, like many other places nationally and globally, women's health is significantly impacted by poverty. Poverty and violence is linked with decreased utilization of preventative care services, an increased occurrence of improper nutrition, and an increased risk of homelessness.

Women and families represent a growing segment of the homeless population. For many women in violent relationships the decision to leave could lead to homelessness. Maintaining one's mental and physical health is challenging while experiencing homelessness. Additionally, health care for homeless women is challenging, and homelessness puts women at increased risk for assault, injury, and illness.¹¹⁵

Older Adult Health

Santa Fe and all the counties in northern New Mexico have a higher percentage of older adults than the rest of New Mexico. The types of services and needs of older adults are varied and require increased attention. Medical complexity brought about by aging, accompanied by loss of functioning and growing isolation, can adversely impact the well-being of older adults. Opportunities for meaningful engagement, supportive services, and health care access can make a significant difference in the quality of life of older adults.

Barriers for older adults who are trying to access needed care include transportation, difficulty navigating multiple service entities, financial burdens, competing family responsibilities, and lack of social support. Additional support is needed for those providing care for older adults. When caregivers are burdened, there are negative consequences for both the caregiver and the older adult. Currently, there are not enough services to support the existing older population. Increased capacity is needed to support today's older adults and to meet the growing demand as this segment of the population grows.



Introduction

Santa Fe, New Mexico, is steeped in the culturally rich history of the Southwest. The oldest capital city in United States, Santa Fe is the oldest European community west of the Mississippi, as well as the highest altitude of any of the U.S. state capitals, with an elevation of 7,199 feet.

The area in and around what is now Santa Fe was occupied for thousands of years by Tanoan indigenous people who built villages several hundred years ago. It was known by the Tewa inhabitants as *Ogha Po'oge* ("white shell water place"). Spain first claimed the Kingdom of New Mexico in 1540. For hundreds of years, Spanish soldiers and people tried to subjugate the Indigenous people of the area. In 1846, the United States declared war on Mexico, and by 1848 the U.S. officially gained New Mexico through the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo.

The challenges and strengths of Santa Fe rise from its history and the people who have participated in shaping and forming the community it has become today. While it is the story of the resilience of the people who have struggled and thrived here for generations, intergenerational traumas persist and may give us insight into the root causes of the current health and social issues in Santa Fe County.

Genetics, behaviors, and environmental factors directly impact the health of individuals, families, and communities. Physical health and well-being are connected to the mental, emotional, spiritual, and social factors of health and well-being. These social factors, also known as the Social Determinants of Health include: access to healthy foods, transportation, literacy and education levels, income and socioeconomic status, housing status, social supports, access to health services, documentation status, sexual identity and orientation, and childhood experience. These factors impact health disparities amongst certain population groups.

The data presented in this report tells the story of some of the most troubling health challenges in our community. These data, used effectively, can direct the path forward. The Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) is intended to support and guide collaborative partnerships and leaders to shift these trends and create a legacy of health and well-being built upon disrupting inequality and building resilience so that every person in our community can thrive.

For two years, the COVID-19 pandemic profoundly impacted the Santa Fe Community. While the pandemic highlighted some of the root causes of health inequities in our community, it also provided an opportunity for healthcare, community-based organizations, and local and state government to work collaboratively in ways that had not existed prior to the pandemic. Collaborative relationships were strengthened as city, county, and state governments and community organizations "leaned in" to keep the community safe. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is included throughout the different sections of this CHNA—from how we engaged the community in the CHNA development to how COVID-19 impacted different health issues along the lifespan and in diverse community groups.

Purpose of the Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA)

Located in Santa Fe, New Mexico, CHRISTUS St. Vincent Regional Medical Center is a nonprofit communitybased healthcare organization with a rich history of understanding and meeting community needs. The 2010 Affordable Care Act solidified our processes by requiring all nonprofit hospitals to formally assess the health needs in the communities they serve every three years. The process identifies priorities, produces a health needs assessment document, and then develops an implementation plan to address those needs. This document is the 2023–2025 CHNA for CHRISTUS St. Vincent (CSV). Review of 2020–2022 CHNA Indicators Selection of 2023–2025 CHNA Indicators Quantitative & Qualitative Data Collection

Findings

Recommended 2023–2025 Priorities

In accordance with IRS regulations, the CHRISTUS St. Vincent CHNA is made available and is widely disseminated. Physical distribution of the 2020–2022 CHNA was somewhat hampered because of the COVID-19 pandemic and the decrease of in-person meetings beginning in March 2020. However, the CHNA is posted on the CHRISTUS St. Vincent website *www.christushealth.org/ connect/community/community-needs.* The CHNA has been utilized for reference and/or to guide planning and funding decisions by: Anchorum St. Vincent, Santa Fe County, City of Santa Fe, St. Vincent Foundation, The Community Health Funder Alliance, and local community nonprofit organizations.

2023–2025 Methodology & Community Input

COVID-19 changed the way input was gathered from the community. Rather than having in-person meetings and focus groups, as has been done in the past, CSV utilized on-line meeting platforms (e.g. ZOOM) to facilitate meetings to gather information.

CHRISTUS St. Vincent utilizes a lifespan approach in its Community Health Needs Assessment process that is divided into six domains: Maternal & Early Childhood Health; School-Age Children & Adolescent Health;

Maternal & Early Childhood Health	
Prenatal Care in the First Trimester	+
Babies Born with Low Birthweight	-
Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS)	-
School-Age Children & Adolescent Health	
Depression and Suicide Attempts	-
Obesity	-
Resiliency in Adolescence	=
Adult Behavioral Health	
Drug Overdose Death	-
Alcohol-Related Death	-
Depression and Suicide Deaths	-

Adult Behavioral Health; Adult Physical Health; Women's Health; and Older Adult Health. In each domain of the lifespan, three to five priority indicators are identified within the context of other factors of health and wellness.

Evaluation of 2020–2022 CHNA

The 2023–2025 CHNA process began with a review and evaluation of the 2020–2022 CHNA priority data indicators. These data were reviewed using a Results-Based Accountability process to assess whether improvements in the health and well-being of the population have occurred over the past three years.

Health Indicators

A virtual Health Indicator Café involving 51 community partners was held on November 16, 2021. The Café included experts from each of the lifespan areas who selected and prioritized the population health indicators. Breakout rooms by lifespan area were used to review the 2020–2022 indicators and to discuss emerging community issues. A participatory process informed by data, engaged the community experts in the selection of the 2023–2025 priority indicators.

The chart below summarizes the 2020–2022 data indicators and illustrates whether trends are improving (+), worsening (–), or staying the same (=).

Adult Physical Health	
Heart Disease Death	=
Cancer Death	=
Food Insecurity & Fruit/Vegetable Consumption	=
Women's Health	
Obesity	-
Domestic Violence	-
Homelessness	=
Older Adult Health	
Fall-Related Unintended Injury Deaths	-
Influenza Immunizations	+
Suicide Deaths	+

2020-2022 Super Priorities

In addition to the lifespan priority areas, the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors selected three super priorities for 2020–2022.

The following is a summary of CHRISTUS St. Vincent initiatives and activities that focused on the 2020-2022 Super Priorities based on the needs that were identified during the CHNA process:

CHRISTUS St. Vincent 2020–2022 Super Priorities Behavioral Health Older Adult Health Social Determinants of Health

Goal	Behavioral Health
	Decrease Suicide Rates In Our Community
Objectives	Decrease Substance Abuse Related Illness
	Increase Resilience
	Hired a Behavioral Health Program Director in 2020
Impact	Increased the number of psychiatrists performing inpatient and outpatient services
	Increased the number of outpatient mental health therapist positions
	Continued 9-bed Behavioral Health Inpatient Unit and 8 person Behavioral Observation Unit within the Emergency Department
	Continued hospital-wide psychiatric consult service
	 Integrated High Utilization Group Services (HUGS) Program, Chemical Dependency Consultation, and Violence Response Programs into the Behavioral Health Department
	• Established an Internal Behavioral Health Task Force to improve coordination of care
	 Participated in a Secondary Prevention of Suicide Program in the Emergency Department with the New Mexico Department of Health
	Participated in monthly Santa Fe County Behavioral Health Leadership Team meetings
	 Dedicated over \$1,000,000 of Community Benefit funds to behavioral health service providers across the community including detoxification, youth suicide prevention and intervention, counseling services, etc.

Goal	Older Adult Health
	Decrease Fall-Related Deaths
Objectives	Increase Immunizations For Influenza
	Decrease Suicide-Related Deaths
	Established a CSV older adult health committee that meets regularly
Impact	Continued to develop plans for a CSV Center for Healthy Aging
	 Established several outpatient clinics as Age Friendly, Level 1*
	 Dedicated \$210,000 of Community Benefit funds to older adult service providers across the community including home chores services, home modification services, healthy meal delivery, etc.
	 Continued as a Medicare "Accountable Care Organization" focused on quality and higher value care for seniors throughout the System of Care
	Continued Senior Chronic Care Management Program for patients of CSV primary care clinics
	* Becoming an Age-Friendly Health System entails reliably providing a set of four evidence-based elements of high-quality care, known as the "4Ms," to all older adults in your system: What Matters, Medication, Mentation, and Mobility.

Goal	Social Determinants of Health
Objectives	Address Areas Of Health Disparities In The Population
	Improve Housing Access For Vulnerable Populations
	Increase Health Care Access For Those Without Insurance
Impact	Implemented social determinant of health screenings at outpatient clinics
	 Participated in Santa Fe CONNECT—a network of navigators at clinics, community organizations, and city and county programs. Agencies in the network are connected through a shared technology platform allowing navigators to send and receive secure electronic referrals, address individuals' social needs, and improve individual and community health
	Engaged with New Mexico Legal Aid to provide non-criminal Legal Aid services to CSV patients
	 Dedicated \$570,000 of Community Benefit funds to service providers across the community working directly to address social determinant of health needs including: access to healthy foods, transportation, caregiver support, shelter services, and legal services
	COVID-19 Specific Activities:
	- Participated in the collaborative efforts of the City of Santa Fe and Santa Fe County to coordinate COVID-19 care, quarantine shelter, and services to the most vulnerable unhoused members of our community.
	- Coordination of safe discharge and family quarantine in collaboration with Consuelo's Place, the City of Santa Fe's Shelter.
	- CSV deliveries of personal protective equipment, food, and other supplies to area Pueblos and the Navajo Reservation
	- Coordinated community volunteers to sew protective gowns for healthcare workers
	 Identified needs of vulnerable populations served by community organizations and supported redirection of funds
	- Conducted community-wide mass vaccine clinics

Data Collection

Quantitative data

Quantitative data were gathered from state and national sources including from the New Mexico Department of Health's Indicator-Based Information System or IBIS *https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/*. This system includes several state and national data sources including the Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics (BVRHS), New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey (YRRS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, CDC Wonder, and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Systems Survey Data (BRFSS). Additional data sources were used to explain the indicators in more detail, including Central Repository from statewide law enforcement agencies, the USDA, New Mexico Adult Survivor Database, New Mexico Interpersonal Violence Data Repository, and the New Mexico Office of Medical Investigator.

The quantitative data are comprised of population-level statistics for Santa Fe County, New Mexico, and the U.S. This data provides context for how Santa Fe is doing compared to state and national data. Some data are represented by individual years and others show trends across multiple years.

Qualitative data

Qualitative data were gathered to enrich the quantitative data. This additional data increases the understanding of the root causes driving the statistics. The qualitative data draws upon the expertise and experience of community members who share how these data show up in their lives and/or in the lives of the people they serve across our community.

Community Survey

New to the CHRISTUS St. Vincent 2023–2025 CHNA process was deploying a community survey. CSV, along with other CHRISTUS Health ministries, worked with Metopio—a data analytics company—to develop and distribute an online community survey. Paper copies of the survey were made available upon request. A total of 191 surveys from Santa Fe community members were completed and analyzed for inclusion in this report. While the number of surveys doesn't allow for meaningful statistical analysis, it does allow for additional voices to be heard and provides information for consideration.

Focus Groups

Nine (9) focus groups were conducted to collect qualitative data to help tell the story behind the statistical data. The focus groups allowed community members to provide direct input on the lifespan areas and share their own experiences. The focus groups were guided by open-ended questions asking participants how the data "show up" in their lives and in the lives of their families, friends, or neighbors. The focus groups were made up of individuals diverse in age, ethnic backgrounds, education level, income, and country of origin. When feasible, focus groups occurred during naturally occurring meetings to provide the highest level of accessibility to community members who might not otherwise be able to participate.

Key Informant Interviews

Key informant interviews were conducted in March 2022 with three (3) people who have in-depth knowledge of underserved population groups in the community related to health issues. The one-on-one interviews were designed to capture first-hand knowledge and stories from those with unique knowledge of intimate partner violence in our community as well as a representative of a community-based organization working to improve health equity in the Airport Road Corridor Community.

The charts to the right highlight our data collection methods for 2023–2025.

Health Indicator Café N=51

- Maternal & Early Childhood Health
- School-Age Children & Adolescent Health
- Adult Behavioral Health
- · Adult Physical Health
- Women's Health
- Older Adult Health

Community Surveys N=191*

- 74% Female
- 54% 55 years & older
- 87% at least Associates Degree
- 24% Hispanic

Focus Groups N=97

- SF County Behavioral Health Leadership Team
- SF County CONNECT Navigators
- SF County Health Planning & Policy Commission
- SF County Teen Court participants
- CSV Case Managers & Care Coordinators
- Maternal & Child Health
- Older Adult Health
- LGBTQIA+ Health
- American Indian Health

Key Informant Interviews N=3

- Earth Cares
- CSV Violence Intervention & Resiliency Specialist
- Former CSV Violence Intervention & Resiliency Specialist

* The Community Survey did not yield a representative sample of Santa Fe County. While it is important to not generalize using the collected survey data, it is used as an additional source of community input.

Public Input & Board Approval

Community members and local experts were involved in all aspects of the CHNA development—reviewing and selecting indicators at the Health Indicator Café, participating in focus groups, completing community surveys, and sharing in key informant interviews. In total, over 340 key community members provided guidance and direction on the health needs and issues our community faces. The CHNA is intended to be a community document and a resource designed by and for community members, health care providers, nonprofit leaders, and providers of health and human services.

Beginning in the fall of 2021, the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board Community Health and Wellness Committee and the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors reviewed, provided input, and approved the CHNA throughout the process, culminating in its final approval at the July, 2022 CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors meeting.

Lifespan Areas & Priorities

As mentioned previously, CSV utilizes a lifespan approach in its Community Health Needs Assessment. Health needs evolve throughout the lifespan. For this reason, the CSV process allows for specific priorities to be identified in each area of the lifespan.

The following indicators, chosen through the Health Indicator Cafés, were approved by the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors, and represent the **2023–2025** priority life span health indicators.

Life Span Area	Priority Indicators
	Healthy Pregnancy • Prenatal Care in the First Trimester
Maternal & Early Childhood Health	Healthy Births • Preterm (Premature) Birth • Babies Born with Low Birthweight • Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS)
	Healthy Infants & Toddlers • Childhood Immunizations • Access to Childcare
School Age	Depression & Suicide Attempts
Children &	Substance Use
Adolescent	Resiliency
Health	Obesity
Adult Behavioral	Drug Overdose Deaths
	Alcohol-Related Deaths
Health	Suicide Deaths
	Heart Disease Death
Adult Dhysical	Cancer Death
Adult Physical Health	Diabetes Diagnoses & Death
	Food Insecurity & Fruit/Vegetable Consumption
	Domestic Violence
Women's Health	Sexual Violence
	Chronic Homelessness
	Routine Access to Care
Older Adult Health	Social Isolation
riculti	Caregiver Burden



2023-2025 Super Priorities

The needs of vulnerable populations in the community far exceed the capacity of local government, community organizations, or CSV alone. It is only through coordinated collaborations and partnerships that we can begin to "turn the curve*" to improve the challenges our population faces. To maximize impact and in effort to the "turn the curve," the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors has approved three super priorities for 2023–2025.

CHRISTUS St. Vincent intends to continue to improve care to patients with behavioral health conditions, older adult health, and those impacted by a lack of health equity, diversity, and inclusion. This focus helps assure that ground will not be lost in progress made thus far while we work to address priority needs. CSV strategies will be organizationwide and include inpatient care and outpatient clinics and will be directed toward better identification of individuals, alignment of services, and strengthening the system of care through collaboration with local partners. The criteria used to select these priorities include: (a) people in the most need and most marginalized; (b) populations where CSV has some expertise and/or is implementing strategies or programs; (c) populations that face disparities and barriers to care; (d) issues that significantly impact patient or population health, human suffering, and are quantifiable with data; and (e) areas where there is a focus by others in the community, including planning efforts and funding.

Super Priority	Behavioral Health
Super Priority	Older Adult Health
Super Priority	Health Equity, Diversity, & Inclusion

*Turn the Curve is a Results-Based Accountability concept referring to establishing a baseline for an indicator and examining the trend over a period of time. Population conditions change slowly so instead of measuring from point to point, we examine the trends. When the trend begins to shift toward improved conditions, we are "turning the curve."

	Santa Fe County	New Mexico
Population (April 1, 2020)*	154,823	2,117,522
% New Mexico population*	7.3%	100%
Land area (square miles)*	1,909.41	121,298.15
Persons per square mile*	75.5	17.0
Resident live births (2020)*	1,105	21,890
Resident deaths (2020)*	1,465	23,842
Households*	61,921	180,249
Persons per household*	2.36	2.63
Persons in poverty*	12.4%	18.2%
Children under 5 years old who live in poverty**	1,511 (24.5% of children under 5)	36,454 (30.5% of children under 5)
Children under 18 years old who live in poverty**	4,854 (18.3% of children under 18)	126,883 (26.7% of children under 18)

Community Demographics

*Source: U.S. Census – QuickFacts, Santa Fe County, New Mexico; New Mexico – 2020 **Source: American Community Survey, 5 year estimates

Age

The median age in Santa Fe County is 46.8 years old about 25% higher than New Mexico's and the United States' median age. Twenty percent of the population is aged 19 years and younger. Nearly half (47%) of Santa Fe County's population is aged 50 years and older, and 25.3% of Santa Fe County residents are 65 years and older and this segment of the population continues to grow. It is anticipated that more than 32% of the Santa Fe County's population will be over 60 by 2030.



Sex & Gender

Santa Fe County has slightly more females (51.7%) than males (48.3%). Among high school students, 3% identify as transgender, gender queer, or gender fluid, and an additional 2.4% report being uncertain about their gender. This data is not available for adults in our community.



Race & Ethnicity

New Mexico and Santa Fe County are both minoritymajority areas. This means that most of the population are people who identify as racial or ethnic minorities. In Santa Fe County, nearly 51% of residents identify as Hispanic and 4.3% identify as American Indian or Alaska Native.

Race and Ethnicity in Santa Fe County



Source: U.S. Census-QuickFacts, Santa Fe County, New Mexico - 2020

Foreign-Born Population

Santa Fe County's diverse community includes individuals who were born in a country other than the United States of America. Of those not born in the U.S., 34.2% (6,354) have become naturalized citizens. The 12,225 individuals who are not U.S. Citizens include those who have permanent residency, temporary migration status, humanitarian migrants, or are undocumented immigrants.



Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Economics

Like many New Mexico communities, Santa Fe County struggles with poverty. While the median income for Santa Fe County is \$61,200, the per capita income was \$38,520. There are 19,198 individuals living in poverty in Santa Fe County (12.4%). Though poverty varies by age group and location within the county, health disparities due to income will be highlighted as an issue of equity throughout this report.

Federal Poverty Guidelines - 2022			
Family Size	Annual Income 100% Poverty	Annual Income 150% Poverty	Annual Income 200% Poverty
1	\$13,596	\$20,388	\$27,180
2	\$18,312	\$27,468	\$36,624
3	\$23,040	\$34,548	\$46,068
4	\$27,756	\$41,628	\$55,500
5	\$32,472	\$48,708	\$64,944
6	\$37,200	\$55,788	\$74,388
7	\$41,916	\$62,868	\$83,820
8	\$46,632	\$69,948	\$93,264

Source: New Mexico Human Services Department

Education

Nearly 90% of Santa Fe County residents aged 25 years and older have at least a high school diploma. Of those aged 25 years and older, 41% have at least a bachelor's degree. Educational attainment greatly impacts the chances of living in poverty.

% of Santa Fe County Population 25 Years and Older Living in Poverty by Educational Attainment



Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, 2019

Mortality

In Santa Fe County, the top two causes of death are heart disease and cancer. They often switch positions, but they remain the top two causes of death.



Source: https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/query/result/mort/MortCnty/ LCDAgeRate.html

COVID-19

In 2020, COVID-19 was the fourth leading cause of death in Santa Fe County. While American Indians were disproportionately impacted by COVID-19—both in cases and deaths—the numbers are too small to calculate a rate for comparison for Santa Fe County. (See the section on Health Equity and Barriers to Care to see the COVID-19 rates for American Indians in New Mexico.) Hispanic residents had higher rates of COVID-19 death than White residents in Santa Fe.

Since the beginning of the pandemic (through July 6, 2022), there have been 33,428 COVID-19 cases and 316 COVID-19 deaths in Santa Fe County. Ninety-five percent of Santa Fe County adults have had at least one vaccine shot and 90.8% of Santa Fe County adults have completed their primary series of shots.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

Hospital Utilization Data

The following charts highlight the primary uses of the CHRISTUS St. Vincent inpatient hospital units, the emergency department, the inpatient behavioral health unit, and the outpatient primary care and pediatric clinics.



Source: CHRISTUS St. Vincent, 2019-2021

Top Ten Emergency Department Diagnoses

Chest Pain
Head Pain and Injury
Infections
Abdominal Pain
Alcohol-Related
Dizziness and Collapse
Respiratory Infections
Nausea and Vomiting
COVID-19

Back Pain

Source: CHRISTUS St. Vincent, 2019-2021

Top Primary Behavioral Health Unit Diagnoses, CY 2021



Top Ten Diagnosis CSV Outpatient Clinics Primary Care and Pediatrics, CY 2021



Source: CHRISTUS St. Vincent, 2021

Source: CHRISTUS St. Vincent, 2021



Health Equity & Barriers to Care

Health equity is achieved when every person in a community can live to their full health potential despite social and economic position or socially determined circumstances.¹ Health and wellness is not experienced the same across a community. Different groups experience the world differently and that impacts their health.

This section is intended to provide an introductory overview of several areas of health disparities and health equity concerns.

Social, Structural & Environmental Determinants of Health

Social, structural, and environmental determinants of health are conditions or factors in the places where people live, learn, work, and play that affect a wide range of health risks.² A person's health status is determined by genetics, environment, behavior, financial status, education, the social and community context in which they live, and access to health care. Poverty limits access to healthy foods which impacts health despite other positive behaviors. Similarly, safe and stable housing positively impacts health outcomes, and education is a predictor of better health outcomes.^{3, 4, 5}

Examining the social, structural, and environmental determinants of health can help us understand disparities in population health outcomes.⁶ For example, living in communities closer to industrial sites with heavy equipment traffic is likely to have a negative impact on health. Other differences in health outcomes are striking when comparing communities with unstable housing, low income, unsafe neighborhoods, or substandard education with communities of more affluence, safety, and educational attainment.

One of the most persistent social determinant issues that Santa Fe County grapples with is housing. Identified housing needs include expanded housing for the homeless, affordable housing for renters and homeowners, including options for lower-income families and the local workforce. A significant number of people who work in Santa Fe must commute from other communities for their jobs because of the high price of **housing**.

Homelessness has devastating consequences on individuals, families, and communities' health and wellbeing. Lack of stable housing is a significant barrier to improved health status among those identified as high utilizers of hospital care and people with behavioral health conditions. Often these individuals are struggling with co-occurring issues of severe mental illness and substance abuse, complicated by complex social determinant of health needs. Repeatedly, these individuals grapple with the realities of lack of transportation, language barriers, not having a phone, and inability to follow up and attend appointments due to brain injuries, mental illness, and/or difficulties maintaining sobriety. Access to care for those community members who have the most complex range of social and environmental challenges continues to be an area of concern.

We also see the impact of unstable housing and homelessness on our community's youth. Homeless youth are almost **five** times more likely to report attempting suicide, **four** times more likely to report experiencing sexual violence, and **three** times more likely to get mostly Ds and Fs, than students who are not homeless.

Additionally, homeless youth are **40 times** more likely to report **heroin use** than youth with stable housing.⁷

The disparities between neighborhoods are apparent when looking at different census tracts and zip codes. The map below highlights the differences between the following Santa Fe County neighborhoods: Agua Fria Village, Hopewell Street/Triangle District, and Southeast/ Museum Hill.



Source: Leadership Louisville Center (Infographic designed by Kate Stites, Brown-Forman Corp.) The 87507 zip code, one of the most impacted sections of Santa Fe County by COVID-19, includes the Airport Road Corridor and Agua Fria Village. To date, 41% of COVID-19 cases have been in the 87507 zip code even though its population only represents one-third of Santa Fe County. Earlier in the pandemic, it had case counts that made up half of the total cases in Santa Fe County. Accompanying high case counts have been low vaccination rates. CSV has worked with local officials, other medical centers, and community-based organizations to increase the vaccination rate in the 87507 area.⁸

The American Public Health Association (APHA) declared climate change as **"the greatest threat to public health today."** APHA also notes "health risks and impacts of climate change are **not** equally or fairly distributed across people or communities." ⁹





Source: U.S. Center for Disease Control and Prevention

Climate change, together with other natural and humanmade health stressors, influences health and disease in numerous ways. Some existing health threats will intensify, and new health threats will emerge.¹⁰

The CDC highlights the following health effects for the Southwest region of the U.S.:

Temperature-Related Death and Illness—Projected increases in hot days and extreme heat events in the Southwest will increase the risk of heat-associated deaths.

Air Quality Impacts—Ground level ozone air pollution, dust storms, particulate air pollution (such as from wildfires and dust storms), increase respiratory and other illness.

Vector-Borne Diseases—Heat extremes, warming, and changes in precipitation may influence the distribution and occurrence of vector-borne diseases like West Nile virus and may lead to the emergence of new disease(s).

Water-Related Illness—Prolonged droughts can affect drinking water availability, reduce water quality, and cause more people to seek medical treatment.

Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution—Food production in the Southwest is vulnerable to water shortages. Increased drought, heat waves, and mild winters can harm crops and livestock, exacerbate competition for water among agriculture, energy generation, and municipal uses, and increase future food insecurity. Droughts and wildfire in the Southwest have contributed to declines in traditional Indigenous staple foods, including fish, wildlife, acorns, corn, and pine nuts.

Mental Health and Well-Being—Climate change may weigh heavily on mental health in the general population and those already struggling with mental health disorders. One impact of rising temperatures, especially in combination with environmental and socioeconomic stresses, is violence towards others and self. Slow-moving disasters, such as drought, may affect mental health over many years. The loss of stability and certainty in natural systems may affect physical, mental, and spiritual health of Indigenous peoples with close ties to the land.¹¹

Adverse Childhood Experiences

Adverse childhood experiences (ACES) are traumatic and stressful events that children experience before the age of 18 that can directly impact health outcomes later in life. They include:

Abuse: emotional, physical, or sexual Neglect: emotional or physical Household/Family Dysfunction: parental separation/divorce, household substance use, household domestic violence, whether a household

mental illness in the household.

member was incarcerated, and/or the presence of

There is an association between traumatic childhood events such as childhood abuse and subsequent adult health risk behaviors and disease. The effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) can be seen as early as childhood and adolescence. The more ACES a child experiences the more likely they are to experience other negative consequences later in life including substance use, heart disease, interpersonal violence, depression, suicide, and early initiation of smoking, to name a few.^{12, 13, 14}

These experiences in childhood can interrupt brain development due to elevated stress hormones in the body and brain. When large quantities of the stress hormone, cortisol, continues to be produced over long periods of time, the child's brain becomes less able to respond to stressful social situations appropriately.^{15, 16}

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) are not always obvious in survivors. Therefore, ACES should be considered when working with people in health care, behavioral health, or social service settings. The 2019 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data show that 67.6% of New Mexico adults have had at least one ACE compared to 39.8% of U.S. adults.¹⁷ In Santa Fe County, over 70% of adults report at least one adverse childhood experience, and nearly a quarter (22.6%) report four or more adverse childhood experiences.

New Mexico children experience ACES at higher percentages compared to the United States. Nearly a quarter (23.4%) of New Mexico children have experienced one ACE and 25.6% had two or more ACES. Compared to the national percentages of 21.6% of children that have one ACE and 18.2% of children who have two or more ACES.¹⁸

Number of ACES Reported by Santa Fe County Adults



Source: NM Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance Survey, 2019

The more ACEs someone has, the greater risk of future poor health outcomes including chronic diseases, mental illness, addictions, violence, or other unhealthy behaviors. Understanding ACES helps to link behaviors to something experienced by the individual rather than something that is wrong with the individual or purely biological in nature. Additionally, many people who have experienced ACES develop automatic responses to stress that are based on childhood experiences and may struggle to regulate their emotions when stress is triggered. It is too early to understand what the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as an adverse childhood experience will have on the future health and well-being of individuals and communities.

Most Prevalent ACES Reported by Santa Fe County Adults





Source: NM Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance Survey, 2019

American Indian Health

Santa Fe County includes four federally-recognized tribal reservations—Tesuque Pueblo, Nambe Pueblo, Pojoaque Pueblo, and San Ildefonso Pueblo. The seven county service area of CSV includes several other pueblo tribes including San Felipe, Santo Domingo, Santa Clara, Ohkay Owingee, and Taos Pueblo. The main source of primary health care for our American Indian population is the Indian Health Service (IHS). The IHS Santa Fe Service Unit serves most of the surrounding pueblos with hospitals, clinics, and urgent care, as well as satellite clinics located in Santa Clara, Cochiti, San Felipe Pueblo, and the Santo Domingo (Kewa) Pueblo.¹⁹ The IHS is chronically underfunded and under-resourced. In 2018, most of its hospitals reportedly were operating with fewer than 50 total beds, while the agency had about 20% fewer doctors than what it believed was ideal.

Santa Fe draws American Indians from other tribes and Alaskan Natives from across the country. This provides challenges because this large percentage of American Indians living off their pueblo or reservation homelands, coined "Urban Indians" are not included in the IHS facilities budget that is derived from the count of local Pueblo residents, and does not include funding from the originating tribes of those who have relocated to Santa Fe County. This places a strain on existing limited resources. According to the National Council of Urban Indian Health, approximately 78% of American Indians reside in urban areas, but only 1% of the IHS budget is allocated for Urban Indian Health.²⁰

It shouldn't be surprising that American Indians experience worse health outcomes when you consider the lack of financial investment into a key health system. American Indians and Alaskan Natives face significant health disparities when compared to the general U.S. population. This is especially apparent in behavioral and mental health, with adjusted death rates from alcoholism (520% greater) and suicide (60% greater) compared to overall death rates in the United States.²¹

The New Mexico Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) 2019 data reports that American-Indian/ Alaska Natives (33.3%) had a higher percentage of four or more ACES compared to White (22.0%) and Hispanic (23.7%) adults in New Mexico. As previously discussed, there is a strong correlation between the number of ACES an individual has experienced and the prevalence of harmful health behaviors and negative health outcomes.¹⁷

Data from the 2019 New Mexico Youth and Risk and Resiliency Survey indicate that American Indian youth experience some health risk factors more than the overall New Mexico youth average:

- 42.7% of New Mexico American Indian high school students reported being overweight or obese compared to 31.8% of New Mexico high school students statewide.²²
- 36.9% of New Mexico American Indian high school students reported marijuana use in the past 30 days compared to 28.4% of New Mexico high school students statewide.²²
 - Of the American Indian high school students who reported using marijuana, 43% had tried it by the age of 13.²²
 - Of the American Indian high school students who reported using marijuana, 1 in 4 have driven after using marijuana at least one in the past 30 days.²²

American Indians experience higher rates of cancer death in Santa Fe County than other racial and ethnic groups.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, American Indian and Alaska Native people are 5.3 times more likely than White people to be hospitalized due to COVID-19, the largest disparity for any racial or ethnic group. There are numerous reasons why Native Americans are particularly susceptible to the virus, including social inequities and disproportionate prevalence of preexisting conditions—such as diabetes, heart disease, asthma, and obesity—that can put them at increased risk of severe illness. Many also live in multigenerational homes with large families, which can make social distancing a challenge. Lack of access to clean running water also hampers the ability to maintain hand hygiene. Access to quality health care is also an issue.²⁴ Our American Indian focus group participants identified barriers to accessing care that included cost and lack of insurance coverage. While options for health insurance outside of IHS, including Medicaid and Medicare are available, many do not know how to navigate those systems and both systems have limitations.

The following table highlights the disparities between White residents and American Indian/Alaska Natives residents in both COVID-19 case and death rates during the first six months of the Pandemic. The pandemic also led to a spike in risk factors for mental health, including social isolation, unemployment, overall feelings of insecurity and instability, and grief associated with the death of loved ones. Indigenous communities reported an increased prevalence of anxiety and depression, increased suicide cases, increased substance use, and increased incidence of domestic violence since the start of the pandemic. COVID-19 social distancing measures presented barriers to access behavioral and mental healthcare including closure of both inpatient and outpatient treatment facilities, inability to get an inperson appointment with a provider, and fear of leaving the home due to the possibility of contracting the virus.²¹

During the first wave of COVID-19, nearly all the patients in the CSV COVID-19 Unit were American Indians including many Navajo residents far from their homes and traditions. The influx of American Indians into CSV provided numerous learning opportunities for CSV medical providers, nurses, and other staff to address the holistic health needs (body, mind, and spirit) for our American Indian patients and their families. CSV identified opportunities to improve American Indian care by providing additional and ongoing cultural competency training, as well as, possibly creating a cultural navigator position to ensure that CSV provides inclusive care to ensure the best health outcomes possible.

New Mexico COVID-19 Death Rates Through 9/27/2020 ²⁴ (per 100,000)		
Population	Case Rate	Death Rate
American Indian/ Alaska Native individuals	3,624.4	202.1
White Individuals	233.6	11.1

Source: U.S. News and World Report - 2020

Racial and Ethnic Minorities

Health disparities based on race and ethnicity, beyond what exists for American Indian residents, persist in Santa Fe, in New Mexico, and in the Unites States. Across several health indicators, Hispanic residents have worse outcomes than White residents. Additionally, Hispanic residents in Santa Fe County are more likely to report (22.3%) that their general health is fair or poor than White residents (10.5%).²⁵



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics

While Black residents comprise a small percentage of the Santa Fe County and New Mexico population, 1.2% and 2.6% respectively, they experience significant health disparities.²⁶ In 2019, the New Mexico Department of Heath released *Health Equity in New Mexico*, *13*th edition. This report highlights health disparities throughout New Mexico. Key findings include ²⁷:

- Only 57.9% of Black women accessed early prenatal care compared to 70.5% of non-Hispanic White women
- Black women have the highest infant mortality rates, followed by Hispanic women

- Black women continue to have a higher percentage of low birth weight infants than women from any other race or ethnicity
 - National research suggests this is due, in part, to negative physiological impacts of stress resulting from lifelong experiences of racism and discrimination
- Black adults have the highest heart disease death rate than the overall state rate and that of all other racial and ethnic groups
- Black residents are victims of homicide at rates several times higher than non-Hispanic White residents
- Smoking rates remain high among Black residents
- Diabetes prevalence is significantly higher among Hispanic adults than White adults
- Hispanic, American Indians and Black residents experience more dental health disease than White residents

Youth residing in New Mexico, but born outside the U.S., also experience some concerning health risks. Foreign born youth that are English speakers are **twice** as likely to report suicide attempts (22.9%) than U.S. born English speakers (8.7%). They also are more likely to experience sexual violence, use heroin, smoke marijuana, and smoke cigarettes.⁷ The risk of losing their primary caretaker to deportation is a constant and unique stressor for any child of undocumented immigrants living in the U.S.

In the United States, people of color have been disproportionately impacted by the coronavirus pandemic.²⁴ In Santa Fe County, Hispanic residents had higher COVID-19 death rates in 2020 than non-Hispanic White residents.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

LGBTOIA+

Individuals who identify as LGBTQIA+ (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Questioning/Queer, Intersex, Asexual, and other sexual identity or sexual orientation) are members of every community. They are diverse and include people of all races and ethnicities, all ages, and all socioeconomic statuses. The inclusion of their perspectives and needs must be considered in public health efforts to improve the overall health of every person and eliminate health disparities. Members of the LGBTQIA+ community are at increased risk for a number of health threats. Social and structural inequities, such as stigma and discrimination may result in less than optimal health outcomes for many LGBTQIA+ individuals. Social inequality is often associated with poorer health status, and sexual orientation has been associated with multiple health threats. Additionally, there is a need for culturally competent and gender affirming medical care and prevention services specific to the LGBTQIA+ community.28

A 2018 New Mexico Department of Health presentation on inequities states that adults who identify as a sexual or gender minority often report the following health disparities:

- 1. Difficulty accessing preventative care services (include HIV testing, mammograms, and other cancer screenings)
- 2. Discrimination from healthcare providers
- 3. Higher likelihood of disabilities

- 4. Increased risk for mental health issues, including depression and suicidal ideation
- 5. Increased use of tobacco, excessive drinking, and other substance use
- 6. Heightened risk of cardiovascular disease and more days of poor physical health
- 7. Higher rates of sexually transmitted infections²⁹

The New Mexico Office of Substance Abuse Prevention's 2019 New Mexico Community Survey indicates that adults who identify as LGBTQIA+ report more instances of driving under the influence of substances or alcohol than those who identify as straight or cisgender.

The 2019 New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey indicates that 13.7% of Santa Fe High School Students identify as lesbian, gay, or bisexual. An additional 5.3% report being uncertain of their sexual orientation. Three percent identify as transgender, genderqueer, or genderfluid. An additional 2.4% are uncertain about their gender identity.

Youth who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, gender nonconforming, or those who are unsure are the most likely to report being kicked out their home, running away from home, or being abandoned. It is estimated that while 7% of youth are LGBTQIA+, an astounding 40% of homeless youth identify as LGBTQIA+.29 Youth who identifying as LGBTQIA+ also are more likely to report substance use and mental health risks than students who identify as "straight" or "cisgender." 7



Percentage of New Mexico Adults Reporting Substance Use and/or Driving After Drinking-Past 30-Days

Source: New Mexico Community Survey, 2019



Source: NM Youth Risk & Resiliency Survey, 2019



Source: NM Youth Risk & Resiliency Survey, 2019

For information and education on LGBTQIA+ terminology and how to be an ally, please find one of the many resources online including, www.hrc.org/resources/ glossary-of-terms and *www.cdc.gov/lgbthealth*.



Maternal & Early Childhood Health



Indicator 1: Healthy Pregnancy

Prenatal Care in the First Trimester

Indicator 2: Healthy Births

Preterm (Premature) Birth Babies Born with Low Birthweight Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS)

Indicator 3: Healthy Infants & Toddlers

Childhood Immunizations Access to Childcare

Healthy Pregnancy

69.3%

of Santa Fe pregnant women reported receiving prenatal care in the first trimester in 2019

Healthy Births

8.6% of Santa Fe babies were born prematurely in 2020

11.5%

of Santa Fe babies were born with low birthweight (under 5.5lbs) in 2019

27.2

per 1,000 Santa Fe babies were born with Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome in 2019

Healthy Infants & Toddlers

7.9%

of Santa Fe children age 2 years and younger have access to high quality childcare

71.9%

of New Mexico children 19–35 months old received their recommended childhood immunizations on schedule

Three multifaceted priority indicators were identified to represent Maternal & Early Childhood Health in Santa Fe County:

• Healthy Pregnancy

- Prenatal Care in the First Trimester

• Healthy Births

- Preterm (Premature) Birth
- Babies Born with Low Birthweight
- Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS)

• Healthy Infants & Toddlers

- Childhood Immunizations
- Access to Childcare

The selected indicators measure the three stages within the Maternal & Early Childhood Lifespan Area— Pregnancy, Newborns, and Infants & Toddlers. The future health and stability of our community begins with the health and well-being of those being born now. Pregnancy and the first months and years of life are key points in a child's development—it sets the trajectory for their future learning, growth, health, and emotional development.

Why Is This Important?

Early childhood is a time of great growth and development. Healthy development in the early years provides the building blocks for educational achievement, economic productivity, responsible citizenship, lifelong health, strong communities, and successful parenting of the next generation.³¹ In 2020, there were 1,105 births in Santa Fe County, and 4.1% of the Santa Fe County population (6,348) were under age five years old.

A baby's future success is strongly correlated with a strong and healthy start in life.³² Prenatal care is the foundation of a healthy pregnancy, labor, and delivery. Early and regular prenatal care is important to the health of both the baby and mother. Regular visits to healthcare providers can allow them to identify and treat complications as soon as possible.³³ **Babies of mothers who do not get prenatal care are three times more likely to have a low birth weight and five times more likely to die than those born to mothers who do get care.³⁴ Early prenatal visits also allow doctors to share about how to give unborn babies a healthy start to life.³⁴ The 2020 Santa Fe rate exceeded the** *U.S. Healthy People 2030* **goal, but Santa Fe has not consistently met that goal (no more than 9.4% of all births are pre-term).**

Premature births and babies born with low birthweight are interrelated. Newborns who are born too soon, too small, or who become sick are the greatest risk of death and disability.³⁵ *The U.S. Healthy People 2030* goal is that only 9.4% of all births are considered preterm.

Babies born under 5.5 pounds are at an increased risk for health problems including neurodevelopmental disabilities and respiratory disorders. They also can have lifelong issues with social functioning, behavioral health, and additional challenges.^{35, 36} Risk factors linked to low birthrates include the age of the mothers, especially women under 16 or over 40, lack of prenatal care, social disadvantage, maternal stress, smoking, environmental pollution in the home or outside, and lack of weight gain during pregnancy.^{37, 38, 39}

Exposure to drug and alcohol use during pregnancy also can have lifelong ramifications. Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS) is a group of conditions caused when a baby withdrawals from certain drugs they are exposed to in the womb before birth. NAS is most often caused when a woman takes opioids during pregnancy. But it also can be caused by antidepressants, barbiturates or benzodiazepine use.⁴⁰ Babies born with NAS are at heightened risk of being born with low birthweight and jaundice, often requiring intensive care.^{41, 42, 43, 44} Babies born with NAS may have problems breathing, sleeping and feeding, excessive crying, body shakes and seizures, an unhealthy attachment to caregivers, and fever.⁴¹ As they grow older, they may have developmental problems with speech, language, hearing loss, and learning. They also may need early intervention services to help them walk, talk, and interact with others.45,46

Early childhood years are a time of rapid development. Routine pediatric checkups throughout the first few years of life are essential to identify and address developmental delays or concerns. Not seeing a pediatric provider at recommended intervals can mean delays are not identified nor addressed appropriately. Postponed identification and care of delays can have long-term, even lifelong, impacts.

For many families, a good start in life for their new babies includes high-quality childcare. Sadly, quality infanttoddler programs in the U.S. are not common and often are inaccessible for those children who could benefit the most. Generally, if quality childcare can be found, it consumes an enormous part of a family's budget.

Poverty in the early years of a child's life has especially harmful effects on continuing healthy development and well-being including developmental delays and infant mortality. Children born into poverty are less likely to have regular health care, proper nutrition, and opportunities for mental stimulation and enrichment. For low-income children, high-quality early childhood programs can make the difference between success and failure. However, they often only have access to lowquality care that can be detrimental to development.³²



Low quality care is often categorized by high ratios between adult caregivers and children, a lack of developmentally appropriate materials, and unsafe physical environments.

In Santa Fe County, 25% of children under the age of five years old live in poverty, compared to approximately 18% in the U.S.

Support for babies and families includes having access to affordable and compassionate prenatal care, services families might need for their new infant and other children, nutrition, along with accessible, high-quality pediatric care and childcare.

How Are We Doing?

Santa Fe County and New Mexico struggle with poor maternal and early childhood health measures continuing to perform below national levels and goals. Unfortunately, fewer women in Santa Fe are accessing prenatal care compared to those in the nation. While there was a slight uptick in 2019, Santa Fe is still nearly 10 points below the national average, and below the *U.S. Healthy People 2030* goal of 80.5%.

While most babies born in Santa Fe County are considered to be born full-term, 8.6% of Santa Fe babies were born preterm in 2020. The 2020 Santa Fe rate exceeded the *U.S. Healthy People 2030* goal, but Santa Fe has not consistently met that goal, which is that no more than 9.4% of all births are pre-term.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

Preterm birth is correlated to the percentage of babies born with a low birth weight. Santa Fe continues to perform worse than the state in the percentage of low birth weight births, and both Santa Fe and New Mexico perform worse than the national average. In 2019, 11.5% of all births in Santa Fe County were considered low birth weight.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

Drug and alcohol use and misuse continues to grow dramatically throughout Santa Fe County including among those who are pregnant. In 2019, 27.2 of babies born per 1,000 live birth have Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS). In 2018, the rate was 19.5.

Babies born to mothers with addictions in Santa Fe is **more than double** the New Mexico rate and **more than three times** the national rate.



Source: New Mexico Hospitalization Inpatient and Discharge Database (HIDD)

Childhood immunizations are used as a proxy for pediatric care visits. In 2017, New Mexican children completed their childhood immunizations on par with the nation at 71.9%. This means, however, that nearly 30% of New Mexico children were not up to date with the recommended course of childhood immunizations. While some children are seen for routine exams by pediatric providers and are not up to date as the result of familial, religious, or cultural reasons, there are other children who are not being seen at all. This lack of access to recommended medical care can mean developmental delays are not being identified and addressed—resulting in long-term consequences.





Source: CDC ChildVaxView and NM Department of Health

Access to high-quality childcare is limited in Santa Fe. There are not nearly enough licensed spots for children under two years of age. Childcare for prekindergarten and school age children is also limited. Only 8% of Santa Fe County children under age two had access to high-quality childcare (STAR 4 or 5). An additional 7% of children under two years old had access to a licensed childcare spot that is not at a STAR 4 or 5 level. Other families needing to access childcare are left with limited options, including unregulated childcare and leaving the workforce. This critical shortage of regulated childcare can have a profound impact on individual children and families as well as the community.

Santa Fe County, 2021		
Number of Children Under Age 2	2,466	
Childcare Capacity in 4 and 5 Star Sites Under Age 2	195	
Childcare Capacity All Sites Under Age 2	374	

Source: https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/indicator/view/ ChildCareCapacityInfant.Cnty.html



Source: New Mexico Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics, 2020

What Is The Story Behind the Data?

When New Mexico expanded Medicaid eligibility in 2014, it significantly expanded coverage to New Mexicans, particularly for pregnant women and children. The expansion increased access to prenatal and postnatal care. Despite this increase in access, barriers to care remain.

Disparities exist for women and their children based on mother's age, education level, race/ethnicity, and location. Pregnant women under 25 are less likely to receive prenatal care in their first trimester than other age groups. Women with at least some college had a higher percentage of receiving first trimester prenatal care than women with a high school diploma or less education. American Indian/Alaska Natives were the least likely to receive prenatal care in the first trimester. Women living in rural and mixed urban-rural counties are less likely to receive first trimester prenatal care than women in metropolitan counties.

Other factors that limit access to prenatal care in the first trimester include financial difficulties regardless of income, not knowing about the pregnancy, difficulty getting an initial appointment, transportation, or an undesired pregnancy.⁴⁷

Percentage Receiving First Trimester Prenatal Care by Mother's Educational Level



Source: New Mexico Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics, 2020

Percentage Receiving Prenatal Care By Mother's Race/Ethnicity



Source: New Mexico Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics

As overdose rates increase in Santa Fe, so has the Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS) rate. The prevalence of substance use in Santa Fe County is one reason NAS is on the rise. Maternal substance use can be inextricably linked to delayed access to prenatal care, preterm births, and low birthweight babies. Mothers may avoid care because of perceptions or experiences of stigma as well as feelings of guilt and fear.⁴⁸ Increasing access to treatment services, especially for pregnant women, could help reduce NAS. Additionally, increasing knowledge of existing Medication Assisted Treatment programs for pregnant women also is essential for directly impacting NAS rates and other related pregnancy and birth outcomes.

Lack of quality childcare is an enormous burden on Santa Fe families. It limits job opportunities, threatens economic stability and advancement, and prevents children from participating in healthy environments to learn and grow. Several focus group participants stated they didn't know what they would have done if they hadn't had family and/ or friends to provide care for their young children until a spot opened up in a childcare facility.

Efforts are being made to address many of the early childhood health issues previously listed. Santa Fe has an active multidisciplinary Early Childhood Steering Committee dedicated to improving access to programs and services for babies and children including high quality childcare. In 2020, New Mexico officially launched its Department of Early Childhood Education and Care. Its mission is to optimize the health, development, education, and well-being of babies, toddlers, and

Percentage of Women Receiving Prenatal Care in the First Trimester

New Mexico Metropolitan Counties	70%
New Mexico Mixed Urban-Rural Counties	59.2%
New Mexico Rural Counties	62.4%

Source: New Mexico Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics

preschoolers through a family-driven, equitable, community-based system of high-quality prenatal and early childhood programs and services. The future health of Santa Fe is inextricability linked to the health and wellbeing of today's babies and children and their families.

COVID-19 Impact

The COVID-19 pandemic had direct and indirect effects on maternal and early childhood health.

A literature review focusing on the direct and indirect impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal health, found that prenatal care visits decreased during the first year of the pandemic.⁴⁹ In the U.S., an online survey of 4,451 pregnant women found nearly a third reported elevated levels of stress, with alterations to prenatal appointments cited as a major reason for this elevation.⁴⁹ This may explain the large increase in the number of Santa Fe County pregnant women delaying prenatal care or not receiving it at all in 2020 (up from 10.7% to 17.3%).

Nearly a third (31%) of mothers between the ages of 15-19 years had late or no prenatal care. Nearly a quarter (23.48%) of Santa Fe County mothers with less than a high school diploma had late or no prenatal care in 2020. A fifth (21.35%) of those that were high school graduates had late or no prenatal care and 40.5% of American Indian/Alaska Natives in Santa Fe County received late or no prenatal care in 2020.⁵⁰

Numerous studies are underway to determine the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and overall preterm birth rates. To date, there have been several studies that demonstrate a decrease in the odds of preterm birth compared to pre-pandemic rates. One U.S. study reported a significant (25%) decrease in the odds of preterm birth during the COVID-19 pandemic compared with a similar pre-pandemic period.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics

While the reasons for a decrease are unclear, some hypotheses include decreased work hours, reduced physical and/or emotional stress of work, being home with support from family, being able to have time to exercise, and reduced exposure to environmental pollutants from reduced air pollution. Further research is needed to better understand the overall data, possible correlations, and if data demonstrates decreased preterm labor among all population groups.⁵¹

As mentioned previously, preterm births and low birth weights are interconnected. Not surprisingly, several early studies demonstrate that low birth weight rates improved during the COVID-19 pandemic.^{52, 53, 54} However, more research is needed to examine the drivers of this change and if any other conditions developed or increased with the corresponding decrease in low birth weight rates.

Pre-pandemic, Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS) had been increasing. Additionally, drug overdose deaths, particularly related to opioids has been increasing. While we don't have NAS rates yet for 2020 (year one of the COVID-19 pandemic), we anticipate an increase based on what we know about drug use and the decreased access to prenatal care during the same time frame.

A Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services report describes concerning declines in health care utilization during the COVID-19 pandemic for the nearly 40 million children enrolled in Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) nationwide. Data reflect a steep decline in children's engagement in both primary and preventive care, driven by stay-at-home orders in states across the nation.⁵⁵

From January through May 2020, the number of Medicaid and CHIP-enrolled children under age two receiving vaccinations *declined by more than 30 percent*. From March to May 2020, there were sharp declines in key health services including an over 40% decrease in health screenings, 44% fewer outpatient mental health services, and an almost 75% reduction in dental services. While child health services utilization has begun to increase, use of these essential child health services has not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels.⁵⁵

Access to childcare has also been constrained by COVID-19. Data from a July 2020 survey by the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) illustrates the struggle child care providers are experiencing because of COVID-19. While most of the New Mexico providers who answered the survey were operational, 94% were serving fewer children than they were prior to the pandemic. Overall enrollment was down by 65%. Nearly 40% of respondents had to cut wages, furlough, or lay off staff. At the same time, expenses increased. Childcare programs are struggling to reopen which merely exacerbates the reality as families struggle to find affordable, quality childcare.⁵⁶



School-Age Children & Adolescent Health



Indicator 1: Depression & Suicide Attempts

Indicator 2: Substance Use

Indicator 3: Resiliency

Indicator 4: Obesity

Depression

41.6% of high school students reported feeling sad or hopeless for more than two weeks in 2019

Suicide Attempts

9.4% of high school students reported attempting suicide in 2019

Substance Use

In 2019, high school students reported "current" use of:

33.9% used marijuana

28.4% used alcohol

11.6% used synthetic marijuana

9.1% improperly used pain medication

Obesity

13.6% of high school students were obese in 2019

Resiliency

73.4% of high school students reported having a teacher or other adult who believes they will be a success in 2019

Four priority indicators were identified to represent School-Age Children & Adolescent Health in Santa Fe County:

- Depression & Suicide Attempts
- Substance Use
- Obesity
- Resiliency

The selected indicators attempt to gain a comprehensive picture of the physical and mental health of adolescents. Adolescence is the transition between childhood and adulthood and is a time of continued development and has specific health needs associated with it. Unfortunately, youth in our community do not have equal access to protective factors that improve health and wellbeing. We continue to see troubling data in depression, substance use, obesity, and other factors that make it more difficult for youth to flourish.

Why Is This Important?

Adolescents develop health and behavior patterns that can impact lifelong health and well-being. The selected priority indicators are each linked to long-term health outcomes and offer insights to opportunities for interventions that can create a healthier future for our communities.

Youth flourish when they learn meaningful skills, when they are given opportunities to use them, and are recognized by others for applying those skills as they transition into adulthood.⁵⁷ The effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) can been seen as early as adolescence—underscoring the importance of prevention and early intervention.

Chronic health conditions, including mental illnesses such as depression, can begin in adolescence and early interventions can dramatically improve outcomes. Causes of mental illness are often due to complex interactions between a person's genes and their environment. Studies indicate social inequities, such as discrimination and poverty, are related to developing mental illness.⁵⁸ (See the section on Health Equity and Barriers to Care for more information about how inequities impact health outcomes.) Mental instability makes everyday life including school and socializing difficult.⁵⁹ National studies demonstrate that stigma prevents people from seeking help for mental illness.⁶⁰

Substance use among adolescents has multiple ramifications. Substance use:

- affects the growth and development of teens, especially brain development;
- occurs more frequently with other risky behaviors, such as unprotected sex and dangerous driving; and
- contributes to the development of adult health problems, such as heart disease, high blood pressure, and sleep disorders.

Additionally, the earlier a teen starts using substances, the greater their chances of continuing to use substances and developing substance use problems later in life.⁶¹

Obesity impacts both mental and physical health. Adolescents affected by obesity are at an increased risk for impaired glucose tolerance which can lead to Type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease in adulthood, hypertension, high blood pressure, among other complications.^{62, 63} Females who are obese during adolescence face increased reproductive and gynecological health risks. Psychological challenges of obesity include low self-esteem, distorted body image, and strained peer relationships.^{64, 65, 66, 67} Healthy eating habits and physical activity can help prevent obesity. Adult focus group members expressed concern for the mental health consequences that adolescents may face as the result of bullying over their weight.

Resiliency helps buffer and protect young people from negative situations or conditions.^{68, 69} Youth in Santa Fe who report having a teacher or other adult who believes they will be a success are less likely to be involved in physical fighting, skipping school, being bullied, attempting suicide, or using substances like cigarettes, alcohol, and other drugs.⁷⁰ Caring adults add to the resiliency of children and youth by supporting them, expressing care and concern for their well-being, and letting them know they believe in their success.

How Are We Doing?

In the most recently available Youth Risk & Resiliency Survey (YRRS, 2019), Santa Fe high school students reported increased feelings of sadness or hopelessness in the past year which has kept them from doing regular activities. There is also a corresponding increase in the prevalence of self-reported suicide attempts among high school students (9.4%).

The percentage of self-reported depression among Santa Fe high school students is higher than New Mexico and nearly 10 percentage points higher than the national average. Data from the New Mexico Office of the Medical Investigator's 2020 Annual Report indicates that 79% of the suicide deaths of New Mexico residents under the age of 19 years are males. Gunshot wounds are the most common method of suicide deaths (55.3%). While more males die by suicide than females (likely due to the lethality of method used), the data indicates that adolescent females, overall, are more likely than adolescent males to report feeling depressed and to make plans and suicide attempts.



Source: United States and New Mexico High School Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey



Santa Fe County High School Students Reporting	Females	Males
Felt Sad or Hopeless	53.0%	30.1%
Made a Suicide Plan	15.4%	11.5%
Attempted Suicide	10.6%	7.9%

Source: New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey, 2019
Substance use among Santa Fe high school students is common. The five most frequently used substances reported by high school students are E-Cigarettes, marijuana, alcohol, synthetic marijuana, and improper use of pain medication. Nearly 30% (28.7%) of Santa Fe high school students have been offered drugs on school property. Teen focus group participants shared that accessing drugs is easy, and if they or if any of their friends wanted to buy drugs, they could do it with ease.

If a youth in your life is experiencing depression and/or thoughts of suicide, contact the New Mexico Crisis and Access Line 24/7 at 1.855.NMCRISIS (662.7474).

Locally, the Sky Center provides free counseling for youth and families. Contact the Sky Center at 505.473.6191.



Source: United States and New Mexico High School Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey/Youth Risk Behavior Survey

Over half of high school students reported having had alcohol, and over one-fifth have used marijuana at least once. The accompanying chart highlights the alarming number of high school students who tried alcohol or marijuana before the age of 13 years old.

An individual's weight can have a significant impact on their current and future health. Obesity among Santa Fe high school students has increased from 9.4% in 2011 to 13.6% in 2019. There was a slight decrease from 2017 to 2019 from 14.6% to 13.6%.

Percentage of Santa Fe County High School Students Reporting Ever Drank Alcohol 57.1% First Alsoholis Drink Defere Acc 12 22.5%

First Alcoholic Drink Before Age 13	22.5%
Ever Used Marijuana	20.9%
Used Marijuana Before Age 13	17.6%

Source: New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey, 2019



Source: United States and New Mexico High School Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey/Youth Risk Behavior Survey

Poor nutrition and lack of physical activity contribute to obesity. New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey data illustrates some of the concerning eating and physical activities habits among Santa Fe high school students.

Underpinning poor mental and physical health, can be an inability to navigate life stressors and overcome challenges. Building and strengthening resiliency among youth can lead to improvement in other health outcomes. Nearly a quarter (73.4%) of Santa Fe high school students report that they have an adult in their lives who believes they will be a success.

Physical Activity and Nutrition At A Glance Percentage of Santa Fe County High School Students Reporting

Daily Physical Activity	24.7%
Daily Physical Education In School	15.4%
Screen Time (TV/Computer/Video) Three or More Hours Daily	56.0%
Five Servings of Fruit or Vegetables Daily	19.9%

Source: New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey, 2019



Source: United States and New Mexico High School Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey/Youth Risk Behavior Survey

While the data is encouraging, there is concern for the more than 25% of high school students who don't have an adult in their life who believes in their success. These students are more at risk for negative mental and physical health outcomes than their peers with a supportive adult in their lives.

What Is the Story Behind the Data?

The effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) can be seen as early as childhood and adolescence. ACES include abuse, neglect, and family dysfunction. The more ACES a child experiences the more likely they are to experience other negative consequences in life including substance use, heart disease, interpersonal violence, depression, suicide, and early initiation of smoking, to name a few.^{12, 13, 14} There also is a link between ACES and obesity. While it is important to examine nutrition, healthy food access, and physical activity in determining the causes of obesity, it also is important to consider psychosocial determinants.⁸⁰

Teen focus group participants shared that it is hard for families to eat healthy meals together because of work schedules. They also expressed that the cost of healthy food and the time it takes to prepare them can outweigh the benefits. They also noted that physical education is no longer required in middle and high school as it has been in years past.

When risk factors continue from childhood to adolescence, they are associated with increased likelihood of youth substance abuse. However, not all youth who experience risk factors will develop substance abuse problems. Some individuals are exposed to protective factors that may keep them from using substances. The presence of multiple protective factors can lessen the impact of a few risk factors. For example, strong protection, such as parental support and involvement, could diminish the influence of strong risks, such as having peers who abuse substances.⁷¹

Poverty is a strong factor in the accumulation of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and subsequent toxic stress correlated with unfavorable health outcomes in adulthood.⁷²

18% of Santa Fe County children and adolescents under the age of 18 years old live in poverty.

Teen focus group participants mentioned the lack of activities for young people in the places where they live and attend school, including the lack of free or inexpensive activities. These limitations can negatively impact physical and mental health. It also decreases the opportunity for youth to have a positive adult (e.g., coaches, instructors, etc.) in their life. This can diminish resiliency factors. Not being able to access productive activities can increase boredom and provide opportunities to engage in risky activities like vandalism as well as drug and alcohol use.

Teens expressed concerns about violence in the community and the easy accessibility of guns for both teens and adults.

Teen focus group participants reported having peers who have struggled with depression and have made suicide attempts. Participants expressed concerns about the ability to access mental health care in the community. They also shared concerns that guidance counselors and therapists would not maintain confidentiality if they have more serious issues that are required by law to be reported. This impacts their willingness to access care. Young people who become system savvy in these ways can keep concerning behaviors hidden and require caring adults to develop trust with them to be able to provide them the help and support they need.

All of the youth in our focus group believed they have at least one adult in their lives that believes in them and their success. Many expressed having more than one person their lives like this, and they believed many of their friends felt similarly. The data, however, demonstrated that there are approximately 25% of youth who don't have a supportive adult in their lives. Youth who are disconnected are more likely to experience negative social, behavioral, and health outcomes. Disconnection can happen when young people drop out of school where they are connected to a system of supportive services and adults or if they are marginalized for identifying as LGBTQIA+. According to True Colors United, a nonprofit focused on supporting young people who are experiencing homelessness and identify as LGBTQAI+, 40% of homeless youth are LGBTQAI+ as a result of their family's refusal to acknowledge their sexual orientation or identity and causing this disconnection.73

Nearly nine percent (8.63%) of youth between 16 years and 19 years old are neither working nor are they enrolled in school.⁷⁴ Nearly six percent (5.9%) of Santa Fe High School students report being homeless. This is slightly higher than the New Mexico average of 5.2%. Additionally, 8.6% of Santa Fe high school students responded that they have been kicked out, ran away, or were abandoned. Youth who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, gender non-conforming, or those who are unsure are the most likely to report being kicked out of their home, running away from home, or being abandoned. They are also more likely to report substance use and mental health risks than students who identify as "straight or cisgender."⁷⁵

COVID-19 Impact

Early research indicates that U.S. children performed less physical activity and engaged in more sedentary behavior during the early-COVID-19 period as compared to before the pandemic and at levels that are considered suboptimal.^{76, 77} The pandemic necessitated school and park closures as well as cancellations of team sports and organized activity classes to mitigate the spread of the COVID-19. The closures and cancellations appear to have had a profound impact on children's physical activity and sedentary behavior levels—especially among older children (ages 9–13). There is concern for how these behavioral changes might become ingrained or "permanent" behaviors.⁷⁷

As previously discussed, there have been concerning mental health trends among adolescents and adults in our community, state, and nation even before the COVID-19 pandemic began. Early findings indicate that these issues were exacerbated by the pandemic and especially among individuals with pre-existing psychological problems. There have been increased symptoms of depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder among youth of various age groups. Providers at hospitals across the U.S. are reporting alarming increases in rates of attempted suicides and deaths by suicide among youth—especially teenagers. Clinicians have described pediatric patients presenting with suicidal ideation to hospitals nationwide as having "worse mental states" compared to similar patients typically seen before the pandemic.78



Additionally, school closures reduced access to mental health screening and care for vulnerable students. For many students, particularly those from low-income households and racial and ethnic minority groups, schools and their health centers represent the only source of mental health services.⁷⁸

Youth also are affected by the impact of the pandemic on their parents and other caregivers, including unemployment, financial and emotional stress, and fear of infection. Youth spent more time in their homes because of quarantine requirements. For some, their homes were abusive or otherwise dysfunctional, and the pandemic may have amplified the level of abuse or dysfunction.⁷⁸

While it is not yet clear on how many youth or adults developed substance use disorders during the pandemic, we do know that the conditions were "optimal" for developing or exacerbating substance use disorder. It is understood that stress, trauma, mental illnesses, and other types of mental distress make people more vulnerable to developing substance use disorders.⁷⁹ For youth, these "optimal" conditions combined with limited access to positive adults in their life (beyond those in the same household) is a perfect recipe for poor mental health and substance use.



Adult Behavioral Health



Indicator 1: Drug Overdose Deaths

Indicator 2: Alcohol-Related Deaths

Indicator 3: Suicide Deaths



Three priority indicators were identified to represent Adult Behavioral Health in Santa Fe County:

- Drug Overdose Deaths
- Alcohol-Related Deaths
- Suicide Deaths

Our community is plagued with problematic substance use and varying levels of mental illness. Deaths as a result of substance use and poor mental health illustrate the severity of mental health and substance use conditions in Santa Fe County, particularly in comparison to state and national rates. The cyclical and intergenerational nature of these issues also highlight why these indicators continue to be high priorities.

Why Is This Important?

Behavioral health encompasses traditional mental health and substance use disorders, as well as overall psychological well-being.⁸¹ Mental health is an important part of a person's health and well-being. It affects how we think, feel, and act. It also helps determine how we handle stress, relate to others, and make healthy choices. Mental health is important at every stage of life.⁸² Substance use disorder (SUD) is a complex condition where there is uncontrolled use of a substance despite harmful consequences. People with SUD have an intense focus on using a substance(s) to the point where the person's ability to function in day-to-day life becomes impaired.⁸³ Mental and physical health are equally important and can be interdependent on each other. Depression, for example, increases the risk for many types of physical health problems, including chronic and long-lasting conditions like diabetes and heart disease. Similarly, the presence of chronic conditions can increase the risk for mental illness.⁸² Additionally, many people experience substance use disorder along with another psychiatric disorder. Alcohol and drug use is one of the leading causes of preventable illnesses and premature death nationwide.⁸³ Mental illnesses are among the most common health conditions in the United States and are among the most common causes of disability.^{82, 84}

More than 50% of Americans will be diagnosed with a mental illness or disorder at some point in their lifetime.⁸²

1 in 5 Americans will experience a mental illness in a given year⁸²

The overdose epidemic is a widespread public health emergency, contributing to an increase in emergency department visits, non-fatal overdoses, and widespread outbreaks of infectious diseases linked to intravenous drug use. It burdens public health and health care systems with heavy economic costs from death, lost productivity and avoidable expenditures.⁸⁵

Excessive alcohol use is responsible for **more than** 95,000 deaths in the United States each year, or 261 deaths per day. These deaths shorten the lives of those who die by an average of almost 29 years, for a total of 2.8 million years of potential life lost.⁸⁶ Alcoholrelated deaths are due to health effects from drinking too much over time and include various types of cancer, liver disease, and heart disease among others. It also includes the impact of consuming a large amount of alcohol in a short period of time including deaths due to poisonings that involved another substance in addition to alcohol (i.e. drug overdoses), suicide, and motor vehicle crashes.⁸⁶ Children with parents struggling with substance use disorders are more likely to experience child maltreatment and neglect, as well as, witness familial overdoses, creating often-undiagnosed trauma reactions and a need for therapeutic intervention.87

New Mexico long has had some of the highest death rates from alcohol and drugs in the country, and the problem persists. **Since 1990, drug overdose deaths in New Mexico have increased by 572 percent and alcoholrelated deaths have increased by 165 percent.**⁸⁸

Despite recent increased access to treatment in New Mexico, an estimated 134,000 New Mexicans are living with a substance use disorder and receiving no treatment. The largest gaps are for alcohol disorders, with over 73,000 people in need of treatment, but not receiving it.⁸⁸

Suicide and suicide attempts cause serious emotional, physical, and economic impacts.⁸⁹ When people die by suicide, their surviving family and friends may experience shock, anger, guilt, symptoms of depression or anxiety, and may even experience thoughts of suicide themselves. The financial toll of suicide on society also is costly. Suicides and suicide attempts cost the nation over \$70 billion per year in lifetime medical and work-loss costs alone.⁸⁹

How Are We Doing?

Santa Fe County adults continue to struggle with poor behavioral health. Santa Fe's drug overdose rate is worse than the New Mexico average, and it jumped alarmingly from 2018 to 2019 from 29.9 to 41.8. Santa Fe's rate was nearly double the national rate in 2019. In 2020, the Santa Fe overdose rate decreased slightly from 41.8 to 38.8, while the overall New Mexico and United States rates increased, to 37.8 and 28.3 respectfully.

From 2015–2019, methamphetamine was the number one drug contributing to overdose deaths in New Mexico. Methamphetamine use in combination with an opioid may increase risk for opioid overdose. Heroin ranked second among drugs contributing to overdose deaths between 2015 and 2019. From 2015–2019, 40% of heroin overdose deaths involved methamphetamine.⁹⁰



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

There has been a major increase of illicitly manufactured fentanyl in the New Mexico Street Drug Market since fall 2019, resulting in a statewide shift from heroin injection to fentanyl smoking. Fentanyl is now widely prevalent in Santa Fe. Fentanyl is a short-acting opioid that is 50 to 100 times more potent than morphine.

The NM DOH reports a 93% increase in fentanyl overdose deaths between 2018 and 2019.⁹⁰

Drug-related deaths, particularly opioid-related deaths, have been in the forefront of local, state, and national news over the last few years. At the same time, alcoholrelated deaths have continued at a steady increase particularly in Santa Fe County.⁹¹ Alcohol-related deaths in New Mexico are more than double than the United States' rate in 2019.

New Mexico's 2019 alcohol-involved death rate is 72% *higher than its opioid death rate.*⁹¹

In 2019 in the United States, over 47,000 people died by suicide and the rate of suicide has increased every year since 2006.⁹² New Mexico and Santa Fe consistently have

rates that are above the United States rate—in 2019, **Santa Fe's rate was nearly double the United States' rate.** In Santa Fe, there was a distressing jump in the suicide rate from 21.9 to 27 between 2018 and 2019. While the Santa Fe rate reduced to 20.0 in 2020, it still remains substantially higher than the United States rate.

What Is The Story Behind The Data?

Substance use is often multigenerational and is driven by complex underlying issues, including poverty and trauma. In addition to the human toll of substance use, the social and economic costs of substance use continue to rise every year. Healthcare, domestic violence, child abuse and neglect, loss of productivity, incarceration, and crime are all costs of substance use.

Substance Use Disorder has a debilitating effect on families and has long-lasting consequences for New Mexico's children. Sixty-four percent of the 49,000 substantiated New Mexico Children, Youth, and Families Department allegations between 2014 and 2018 involved alcohol, drugs, or both as a factor. Abuse, neglect, and substance abuse in the home are defined as adverse childhood experiences (ACES).⁸⁸ Research links ACES with future drug use problems. Children in New Mexico experience childhood trauma at one of the highest rates in nation. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) believe prevention of ACES could reduce heavy drinking by up to 24 percent.⁸⁸



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics and CDC Wonder

Adequate access to treatment is essential to solving the problem, and presently access is limited in Santa Fe and New Mexico. Consistent feedback from focus group participants included the limited ability for individuals to access mental health and substance use treatment and services—including outpatient care, inpatient rehabilitation, transitional care services, etc. There are not enough mental health providers in Santa Fe County to meet the increasing demand—especially bilingual and bicultural providers. Additional barriers to care are accessible, reliable, and affordable transportation. Services and intervention programs to prevent substance use disorders also are needed to comprehensively address the problem.⁸⁸

While COVID-19 expanded telehealth opportunity and usage, it is not felt equitably. Reliable and affordable internet access is limited in the more rural areas of Santa Fe County and New Mexico. Additionally, some focus group participants noted the reluctance of some individuals to use telehealth services for behavioral health visits even if it is an option they could access.

Numerous focus group participants conveyed concerns about the increase in isolation and accompanying feelings of depression, isolation, etc. because of COVID-19 exacerbating existing issues and creating new issues for some. The COVID-19 pandemic also made the nation's drug overdose epidemic worse. A prevailing theme is that the epidemic now is driven by illicit fentanyl, fentanyl analogs, methamphetamine, and cocaine, often in combination or in adulterated forms. Overdoses related to prescription opioids and heroin remain high and also are increasingly contaminated with illicit fentanyl.⁹³

Focus group participants consistently commented about their concern for the growing prevalence of fentanyl and the impact that it is having on the overdose rates.



A recent CDC report highlights the complexity of suicide. While a mental health condition may be a contributing factor for many people, the report notes that "many factors contribute to suicide among those with and without known mental health conditions." A relationship problem was the top factor contributing to suicide, followed by a crisis in the past or in the upcoming two weeks, and problematic substance use.⁹²

The CDC report recommends a comprehensive public health approach to suicide prevention and it identifies several strategies that states and communities can undertake, including such measures as teaching coping and problem-solving skills to help people manage challenges, expanding options for temporary assistance for those in need and connecting people at-risk to effective and coordinated mental and physical health care.⁹²



Source: American Psychiatric Association, 2018

COVID-19 Impact

Researchers are just beginning to understand the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on mental health; more research and studies likely will emerge over next few years. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the global prevalence of anxiety and depression increased by 25% in the first year of the COVID-19 Pandemic.⁹⁴ The unprecedented stress caused by social isolation is one significant explanation for the increase in anxiety and depression. Also related were limitations for people's ability to work, seek support from loved ones and engage in their communities. Loneliness, fear of infection, suffering and death for oneself and for loved ones, grief after bereavement and financial worries have also all been cited as stressors leading to anxiety and depression. Among health workers, exhaustion has been a major trigger for suicidal thinking.⁹⁴

Compounding the increase in the prevalence of mental health problems were the disruptions to mental health services—leaving gaps for those who need it most. WHO reports that by the end of 2021 the situation had somewhat improved but today too many people remain unable to get the care and support they need for both pre-existing and newly developed mental health conditions. While online access to care has increased, access remains a challenge in resource-limited communities.⁹⁴

Researchers also have observed increases in substance use and drug overdoses in the United States since the COVID-19 pandemic was declared a national emergency in March 2020. The the COVID-19 pandemic also presents unique challenges for people with substance use disorders and those in recovery.⁹⁵

According to the National Institute of Drug Abuse, data indicate there have been large increases in drug use in the United States since the national emergency was declared in March 2020. There have increases in the number of positive urine drug screens ordered by health care providers and legal systems. Positive screens for fentanyl, cocaine, heroin, and methamphetamine all have increased from previous years. Studies in the United States and other countries also suggest many people increased their use of alcohol and cannabis (marijuana), especially people with clinical anxiety and depression and those experiencing COVID-19-related stress.⁹⁵ Social isolation and pandemic-related stress are likely contributing factors to increases in substance use and poor substance use outcomes.⁹⁵

People in treatment for substance use disorders faced unique challenges during the pandemic. Physical distancing, quarantine, and other public health measures have disrupted access to medication and other support services for many people.



For those in recovery from a substance use disorder, social support is crucial. Social isolation is a risk factor for continued substance use (relapse). Physical distancing measures and quarantine may be especially difficult for people in recovery because they limit access to meetings of peer-support groups and other sources of social connection. Although in-person recovery supports were limited during the pandemic, virtual meetings and telehealth counseling have expanded and may be useful for some, though not all. Data on how many people have developed substance use disorders in 2020 in the United States have not yet been released. However, addiction scientists have long understood that stress, trauma, mental illnesses, and other types of mental distress make people more vulnerable to developing substance use disorders. Since the pandemic began, public health officials have noted increased reports of mental distress for many populations, including individuals with no history of mental illness, younger adults, racial and ethnic minorities, essential workers, and unpaid adult caregivers.⁹⁵



Adult Physical Health

Indicator 1: Heart Disease Death

Indicator 2: Cancer Death

Indicator 3: Diabetes Diagnosis and Death

Indicator 4: Food Insecurity and Fruit/ Vegetable Consumption

Heart Disease Death

111.5 per 100,000 deaths in Santa Fe County were from heart disease in 2020

Cancer Death

110.4 per 100,000 deaths in Santa Fe County were from cancer in 2020

Diabetes Diagnosis & Death

6.6%

of adults in Santa Fe County reported that they had ever been diagnosed with diabetes by doctor in 2020

16.8

per 100,000 deaths in Santa Fe County were from diabetes in 2020

Food Insecurity

10.6% of Santa Fe households were food insecure in 2019

14.7% of Santa Fe adults consumed 5 fruits/vegetables daily in 2019

The priority indicators selected to represent Adult Physical Health are:

- Heart Disease Death
- Cancer Death
- Diabetes Diagnosis and Death
- Food Insecurity and Fruit/Vegetable Consumption

These indicators represent the leading causes of death in Santa Fe County as well as diseases and health behaviors that are significantly impacted by inequities.

Why Is This Important?

Chronic diseases represent seven of the top 10 causes of death in the United States. Six in 10 Americans live with at least one chronic condition, such as heart disease, stroke, cancer, or diabetes. Chronic diseases are the leading causes of disability in the US and the leading drivers of the nation's \$3.8 trillion annual health care costs.⁹⁶

The leading causes of death in Santa Fe County are heart disease and cancer. In 2020, heart disease was the leading cause of death in Santa Fe County, and cancer was the second leading cause of death. And diabetes was the 10th leading cause of death.

The primary risk factors for heart disease or cardiovascular disease include obesity, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, unhealthy diet, alcohol consumption, smoking, and inactivity.⁹⁷ Cancer risk factors include exposure to chemicals or other substances, as well as certain behaviors. They also include things people cannot control, like age and family history. Limiting exposure to avoidable risk factors may lower the risk of developing certain cancers. The most studied avoidable risk factors are alcohol consumption, cancer-causing substances, diet, obesity, tobacco, exposure to radiation, and sunlight.⁹⁸

Another chronic health problem in Santa Fe is diabetes, a disease that occurs because the body is unable to use blood sugar (glucose) properly. The exact cause of this malfunction is unknown, but genetic and environmental factors play a part. Risk factors for Type 2 diabetes include obesity, high levels of cholesterol, high blood pressure, and depression. Poor nutrition and lack of exercise may also contribute to Type 2 diabetes. A diet high in calories, fat, and cholesterol increases your body's resistance to insulin. Exercise makes muscle tissue respond better to insulin.¹⁰⁰ This is why regular aerobic exercise and resistance training can lower diabetes risk.

Obesity has been rising in Santa Fe County. In 2011, 17.7% of residents were obese. In 2019, 29% of residents were obese.⁹⁹ Premature death because of heart disease, cancer, and diabetes impacts families and communities. It causes financial hardship, family strain, and emotional distress. Each of these diseases may be treated and sometimes can be cured or reversed if detected early and treated promptly. The detection and treatment of precancerous conditions can prevent some cancers from developing. Inconsistent access to an adequate amount of nutritious food can have negative impacts on the health of individuals of all ages and can play a role in the development of these diseases. Healthy habits, access to routine health care including preventative testing, and early detection all play a role in decreasing deaths from heart disease, cancer, and diabetes.

How Are We Doing?

Santa Fe typically has lower rates of heart disease than New Mexico and the United States. However, heart disease is the leading cause of death in Santa Fe County. In 2020, the data below illustrates that Hispanic individuals have higher rates of heart disease than White individuals in Santa Fe County.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Health Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Health Statistics:

Deaths from cancer are lower in Santa Fe than New Mexico and the United States, and the cancer death rate in Santa Fe has been declining since 2011. Cancer was the second leading cause of death in Santa Fe County in 2020. Fortunately, there have been numerous advances in available cancer treatments that make living with cancer more manageable and more common than dying.

In 2020, American Indians and Hispanic residents had higher rates of cancer deaths than the White population in Santa Fe County.



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Health Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Health Statistics

Typically, Santa Fe has lower rates of diabetes diagnosis and death than New Mexico and the nation, ranking as the 10th leading cause of death in Santa Fe County. Since 2011, diabetes diagnosis and death has declined, though Hispanic residents are **more than three** times likely to die of diabetes than non-Hispanic White residents.¹⁰¹



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics



Source: New Mexico Department of Health Bureau of Vital Health and Statistics

While Santa Fe's food insecurity percentage (10.6%) is similar to the United States' percentage (10.9%), it is lower than New Mexico's (14.2%). New Mexico's food insecurity prevalence has been declining since 2011 when 20.1% of residents were considered to have low or very low food security. Santa Fe County does have one of the lowest percentages of food insecurity in the state. However, daily consumption of five or more fresh fruits and vegetables among Santa Fe adults has been steadily declining since 2011. Not surprisingly, our community does not experience food security equally. Inequity in food security is particularly demonstrated in Agua Fria Village, the Airport Road corridor, and the in Triangle District/Hopewell area where there are higher percentages of families receiving Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program benefits (aka food stamps). (See Health Equity and Barriers to Care Section for more information.)



Source: USDA



Source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

% of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Beneficiaries (Food Stamps)	
Santa Fe County	10.51%
Agua Fria Village	15.44%
Airport Road Corridor	22.01%
Triangle District/Hopewell Area	25.16%

Source: American Community Survey, 2015–2019

What Is The Story Behind The Data?

An individual's likelihood to develop numerous chronic diseases, including heart disease, cancer, and diabetes, are a combination of genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors—including the impact of adverse childhood experiences. (See Health Equity and Barriers to Care Section for more information about the lifelong impact of adverse childhood experiences.) Prevention, early detection and diagnosis, and/or early interventions may play a critical role in whether a disease occurs and the course it takes.

Unfortunately, the ability to limit risk factors isn't equitable among community members. Individuals and families with limited income are more likely to live in areas where there are environmental concerns than those who can afford to move away from such factors. Additionally, many risk factors are interdependent with one's ability to access a healthy diet and activities. Moreover, access to preventative care and early treatment and diagnosis is dependent on whether a person has health insurance. Many with health insurance struggle to afford required copays and deductibles. While some individuals may have access to various "charity care" programs, they might presume they are not eligible and not try to access these services.

For some individuals, chronic diseases have a legacy of intergenerational trauma. Having family members who have struggled with a chronic illness that eventually may have resulted in significant disability or death can often create an aversion to going to the doctor or receiving preventative care. In turn, this can delay identifying and effectively addressing potential health concerns.

Almost 17% of Santa Fe County adults aged 18 to 64 years old do not have health insurance. Not having insurance is a barrier to early detection and treatment.¹⁰² Additionally, nearly 23% of Santa Fe County residents live at or below 150% of the poverty line.¹⁰³ This reality delays detection and treatment which can have a profound impact on health outcomes.

Attending routine health exams and receiving preventative screenings such as mammograms, pap smears, and colonoscopies can help catch early signs and symptoms. There have been significant advances in cancer treatment and its availability to patients. This may have impacted the overall decline in cancer deaths—a diagnosis of cancer is not necessarily a death sentence when caught and treated early.

Food insecurity may reflect a household's need to make a trade-off between important basic needs, such as housing or medical bills and purchasing and preparing nutritionally adequate foods. Poverty is directly linked to not having enough food or only having access to less healthy foods of convenience. While there are programs for food assistance in the community, it often requires transportation for food pickup and time to prepare the ingredients. Delivery services may be limited based on age or disability and fee-based delivery services are often a luxury people can't afford.

CSV Case Managers report that patients struggle to access fresh foods because of transportation barriers and rising costs. There are neighborhoods in the Santa Fe area that are considered food deserts. The USDA defines a food desert as an area lacking fresh fruits, vegetables, and other healthy whole foods, usually found in impoverished areas due to a lack of grocery stores, farmers' markets, and healthy food providers within a mile. In Santa Fe County, 9% of residents live in a food desert.¹⁰⁴ Additionally, some community members may not live in an official food desert but reaching the grocery store involves a half mile walk and crossing a busy six lane road or taking a longer route to access crosswalks. For example, residents of the Hopewell neighborhood have close access to grocery stores, but the location of safe crosswalks means a pedestrian might have to walk over a mile in each direction to safely cross St. Michael's Drive.

Food insecurity, nutrition, obesity, diabetes, heart disease, cancers, and other health issues are deeply intertwined. Food insecurity should be understood as a sign of heightened needs and risk because of its connection to others factors that impact health outcomes.

COVID-19 Impact

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in enormous personal and societal losses, with over a million deaths nationwide. As of July 5, 2022, there have been 88 million confirmed COVID-19 cases in the United States, and 1.02 million Americans have died from COVID-19.¹⁰⁵ In New Mexico, there have been 568,434 confirmed COVID-19 cases and 7,957 deaths as of July 6, 2022, at 2:49 p.m. MT.¹⁰⁶

To fully understand the consequences of the pandemic on adult physical health, we need to examine its overall impact on incidence, management, and outcomes of chronic disease. This is particularly important on communities that historically experience health inequities. The COVID-19 pandemic has had direct and indirect effects on people with chronic disease.⁹⁶ Heart disease, diabetes, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic kidney disease, and obesity are all conditions that increase the risk for severe illness from COVID-19.⁹⁶

Unfortunately, COVID-19 decreased health care utilization for preventive care and chronic disease management.⁹⁶ One study reported that nearly half of Americans (47%) said they delayed or canceled health care services since the pandemic started.¹⁰⁷ For example, cancer screenings dropped during the pandemic which has resulted in the diagnoses of fewer cancers and precancers. Modeling studies have estimated that delayed screening and treatment for breast and colorectal cancer could result in almost 10,000 preventable deaths in the United States. We have lost ground in chronic disease prevention.⁹⁶

The prolonged stress experienced by adults as the result of the pandemic is seriously affecting mental and physical health, including changes to weight, sleep, and alcohol use. Since the start of the pandemic, a majority of adults (61%) reported experiencing undesired weight changes with 42% saying they gained more weight than they intended. Of this group, adults reported gaining an average of 29 pounds (with a median gain of 15 pounds). Significant weight gain poses long-term health risks.¹⁰⁷

According to the National Institutes of Health, people who gain more than 11 pounds are at higher risk of developing Type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease. People who gain more than 24 pounds are at higher risk of developing ischemic stroke. Additionally, people who are overweight are more likely to develop serious illness from the coronavirus.¹⁰⁷ Adults also reported changes in sleep and increased alcohol consumption, which negatively impacts overall health. Another stark reality of the impact of COVID-19 is that 53% of U.S. adults said they have been less physically active than they wanted to be since the pandemic started.

Some population groups, including those with low socioeconomic status and those of certain racial and ethnic groups, including African American, Hispanic, and American Indian, have a disproportionate burden of chronic disease and COVID-19 infection—in diagnosis, hospitalization, and mortality. These groups are at higher risk because of exposure to suboptimal social determinants of health. Education, type of employment, poor or no access to health care, lack of safe and affordable housing, lack of access to healthy food, structural racism, and other conditions all affect a wide range of health outcomes. The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated existing health inequities and spotlighted underlying root causes.⁹⁶



Women's Health



Indicator 1: Domestic Violence

Indicator 2: Sexual Violence

Indicator 3: Chronic Homelessness

Domestic Violence

7.3 per 1,000 Santa Fe County residents reported domestic violence incidents to law enforcement in 2020

Sexual Violence

198 Total sex crimes reported to law enforcement in Santa Fe County in 2020

Homelessness

75 Women chronically experience homelessness (2020)

The following were selected as priority indicators of women's health:

- Domestic Violence
- Sexual Violence
- Chronic Homelessness

Each of these priority indicators disproportionately impact women and negatively influence their mental and physical health and well-being.

Why Is This Important?

Gender based disparities impact health across generations. Inequality of power based on gender increases women and girls' experiences of physical, sexual, and emotional violence.¹⁰⁸ In Santa Fe, like many other places nationally and globally, women's health is significantly impacted by poverty. According to the U.S. Census, women are more likely than men to experience poverty.¹⁰⁹ Poverty and violence are linked with decreased utilization of preventative care services, improper nutrition, and homelessness.

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recognizes violence as an urgent public health problem. From infants to the elderly, it affects people in all stages of life and can lead to extensive physical, emotional, and economic problems.¹¹⁰ Women are disproportionately victimized by both intimate partner and sexual violence. Physical injuries, chronic pain, and depression and other mental health issues are prevalent among women who endure violent relationships.¹¹¹ Intimate partner violence is connected to other forms of violence and serious health and economic consequences. In addition to death and injury, physical violence is associated with cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, endocrine, and immune system conditions largely due to the chronic stress resulting from violence in the home. About one in five adult women report having experienced severe physical violence from an intimate partner in their lifetime, and one in six have experienced sexual violence from an intimate partner.¹¹²

Research shows large overlaps with domestic violence and child abuse and neglect.¹¹³ Exposure to domestic violence is considered a form of child abuse due to the long-lasting trauma experienced by children who have witnessed violence in the home. The trauma of such experiences on women and children can have lasting effects and impact entire families and communities.

Sexual violence in the United States is pervasive. Rape, Abuse, & Incent National Network (RAINN), the nation's largest anti-sexual violence organization, shares the following troubling statistics:¹¹⁴

- Every 68 seconds an individual is sexually assaulted in the United States
- One out of every six American women has been the victim of an attempted or completed rape in her lifetime
- Nine out of 10 sexual assault victims are women

The impact of sexual violence is far reaching and includes numerous physical, emotional, and psychological effects such as pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections, sleep disorders, panic attacks, post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, self-harm, and suicide.¹¹⁴

Violence and homelessness are connected. Women and families represent a growing segment of the homeless population. For many women in violent relationships the decision to leave could lead to homelessness. Maintaining one's mental and physical health is challenging while experiencing homelessness. Additionally, health care for homeless women is difficult, and homelessness puts women at increased risk for assault, injury, and illness.¹¹⁵

How Are We Doing?

In 2020, Santa Fe's domestic violence rate was 7.3 compared to New Mexico's rate of 10.2. Santa Fe County ranks 11th in the state for domestic violence rates.¹¹⁶ However, these rates are considered to be lower than actual experiences due to underreporting. Prevalence of intimate partner violence among women in New Mexico is similar to prevalence in the nation. Of New Mexico women, 37.6% report intimate partner violence in their lifetime, compared to 37.3% in the nation.¹¹⁶ Additionally, New Mexico has the highest number of Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (MMIWG) across the entire country and a large portion of MMIWG cases are related to domestic and sexual violence.¹¹⁷

Esperanza Shelter, the domestic violence shelter primarily serving Santa Fe County and the eight Northern Pueblos, had 362 participants (302 non-residential and 60 residential) in FY 2020-21. They also reported 952 crisis calls in FY 2020–2021, which is 337 more calls than the previous year.¹¹⁸

While both men and women are victims of sexual violence, women are disproportionately impacted. New Mexico is 7th in the United States in rates of sexual violence. In 2020, there were 198 sex crimes reported to law enforcement in Santa Fe. Like domestic violence, crimes of sexual violence are underreported to law enforcement. Solace Crisis Treatment Center in Santa Fe County served 353 individuals in its Advocacy and Clinical service lines in FY 2020–2021. In 2020–2021, Solace reached an additional 18,625 individuals through prevention presentations.¹¹⁹



Source: NMDOH & Central Repository



Source: SEX CRIMES TRENDS IN NEW MEXICO: An Analysis of Data from The New Mexico Interpersonal Violence Data Central Repository 2016–2020

In addition to violence, chronic homelessness subjugates women living in Santa Fe County—particularly older women. Nearly 43% of individuals experiencing chronic homelessness in Santa Fe County are women. Of all Santa Fe women experiencing chronic homelessness, 33% are 55 years and older. Chronic homelessness is defined as one year of continuous homelessness for any person with a qualifying disability, or 12 months of homelessness within the past three years.¹²⁰







Source: Santa Fe Homeless and Housing Interim Needs Report During COVID (August 2020)

What Is the Story Behind the Data?

Domestic violence and sexual assault cases are vastly underreported. Many women are afraid to report any type of sexual or physical assaults, especially if they are at risk for homelessness. Domestic violence situations are complex, and survivors often make decisions based on many considerations beyond their own personal safety. For many women, the primary reason for staying in a domestic violence situation is housing.

Most of the women who seek domestic violence services for shelter and/or other services have low incomes/no incomes. For women who report returning to a domestic violence situation "for the children" or because they are "scared." finances and lack of resources are often the core fears behind their return. The New Mexico Adult Survivor Database (ASD) reveals that survivors who left a violent relationship and did not return had a median annual income \$2,080 greater than those who left and returned.¹²¹ This highlights the role that economics plays in an individual's vulnerability to living in violence. Greater emphasis must be focused on providing basic housing, food, clothing, transportation, and access to employment and health care for survivors and their families to allow them to leave and stay away from a violent environment.¹²¹ Since there is no way to capture the number of survivors with financial means who access private services, and/or who travel out of state for services, it is not possible to determine the true proportion of survivors who are considered poor.¹²¹

Similarly, most individuals accessing sexual assault services are low-income. More than 90% of the individuals serviced by Solace Crisis Treatment Center Services are considered low to extremely low-income. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recognizes poverty as a risk factor for sexual violence.¹¹⁰ Poverty can increase an individual's chances of being in environments that put them at an increased risk for sexual assault—including homelessness, living in under resourced/higher crime neighborhoods, etc.

Trauma and poverty are the root of homelessness. Inability to pay rent, untreated mental health, or substance use disorders^{122, 123, 124} or a serious medical incident leaving women unable to work can all lead to homelessness. Additionally, for many experiencing homelessness, violence becomes a routine part of their lives as they are vulnerable to perpetrators and the nature of their living situation puts them in risky positions. Education on how to talk about violence is needed to help those currently experiencing it and to prevent the next generation of perpetrators and victims. Long-term antidotes for domestic violence and sexual assault include reframing the social norms that males and females are taught throughout their lives—beginning in childhood. For example, females generally are expected to be accommodating, polite, and nurturing, while males are typically expected to be strong, aggressive, and bold. Social messaging about expected behaviors often results in females being vulnerable to sexual, physical, and emotional victimizations.¹²⁵

While there are community providers addressing prevention, more is needed. For example, Resolve New Mexico provides school-based and independent violence prevention/self-defense training as well as training on consent. Presently, Solace spends about 10% of its time and resources on prevention services. They envision a future where they spend 90% of their time on prevention and 10% on intervention/crisis services. As they develop their strategic plan to launch their next 50 years, they are setting a goal of 50/50 prevention/ intervention services. Building robust prevention and education programs requires additional resources because intervention services need to continue at the same levels until societal shifts are made. Resources are an ongoing struggle to create sustained changed.

COVID-19 Impact

There is growing evidence that the COVID-19 pandemic has made intimate partner violence more common and often more severe. The pandemic didn't create abuse or abusers, but it exacerbated the underlying issues, and it gives abusers more control and tools to abuse. Isolation has always been one of the most powerful weapons in the abuser's arsenal, and COVID-19 public health orders required social isolation. Around the world, emergency departments saw increases from 2019 to 2020 in domestic violence incidence. One study at Brigham and Women's Hospital in Boston reports that radiology scans and superficial wounds consistent with domestic abuse from March 11, 2020, to May 3, 2020, exceeded the totals for the same period in 2018 and 2019 combined.¹²⁶

In 2020, there were 20,000 hotline calls to sexual assault programs in New Mexico—a 20–25% increase from the previous year.¹²⁷ Solace Crisis Treatment Center, which serves Santa Fe and the northeastern counties, indicated that crisis calls since 2020 have become more intense and complex. As the pandemic persisted, so has the abuse. Additionally, the usual options for trapped women, like calling hotlines, were even less available than usual during the pandemic because they didn't have privacy to make those calls. Remaining at home, also prevented women from not being able to talk to others outside their home or to show up at a shelter or service provider.

The COVID-19 pandemic required organizations to adapt their services to meet the growing health concerns. Organizations had to be flexible to continue serving survivors. Esperanza Shelter adapted its communal emergency shelter model to place individuals and families in hotel rooms rather than in its shelter. The pandemic negatively impacted their clients' abilities to find or keep employment and barriers to affordable housing were also exacerbated during the pandemic. The result is that individuals stayed longer in Esperanza's residential services than in previous years. The average number of days per client spent in shelter increased from 46.04 days in 2018–2019 to 63.18 days in FY 2019–2020.¹²⁸ To accommodate social distancing, the shelter is undergoing renovations that include retrofitting rooms.

Esperanza's non-residential services also were impacted by the pandemic. Since in-person individual and group sessions were not feasible, the staff began to offer sessions through online HIPAA-compliant platforms.^{118, 128} Solace Crisis Treatment Center also pivoted to online programming because of the pandemic. Individual and group sessions switched to online, HIPAA compliant platforms, and education and prevention programs also were delivered online.¹¹⁹

Those experiencing homelessness are at high risk of contracting COVID-19 as homelessness typically prevents people from social distancing. Early in the pandemic, the Santa Fe community came together to figure out how to protect those experiencing homelessness. Local community organizations, healthcare, and the government worked collaboratively to develop and implement plans to house and vaccinate those experiencing homelessness and those on the brink of homelessness. To limit people living on the streets, staying with friends/family, and in communal shelters where COVID-19 had an increased likelihood of spreading, individuals were relocated to a repurposed hotel and dormitory. The result—there was not an outbreak of COVID-19 among those experiencing homelessness in Santa Fe. Additionally, a statewide moratorium on evictions and an influx of federal funding helped prevent some individuals and families from becoming homeless.



Older Adult Health



Indicator 1: Routine Access to Care

Indicator 2: Social Isolation

Indicator 3: Caregiver Bur<u>den</u>

Routine Access to Care

85.2%

of Santa Fe County residents aged 65 years+ went to a routine health visit in the past year (2019)

Social Isolation

91% of New Mexico Adults ages 65 years and over are at Risk for Social Isolation (2015–2019)

Caregiver Burden

43.9% of caregivers have been providing care for two or more years

66.6% of caregivers are spending up to eight hours a week providing care

11.9% of caregivers provide care over 40 hours a week

The three priority health indicators selected to represent older adult needs are:

- Routine Access to Care
- Social Isolation
- Caregiver Burden

These indicators represent access to regular physical health care, vulnerability to comprised mental health, and the impact that caring has on both the caregiver and the individual.

Why Is This Important?

In the United States, approximately 10,000 baby boomers turn 65 years old each day and will for the next 15 years. New Mexico's older adult population has risen faster than the nation's statistics and currently comprises 18% of the total population of the state. Santa Fe and all the counties in northern New Mexico have a higher percentage of older adults than the state. Currently, 47% of Santa Fe residents are 50 and older. Those 65 years and older in Santa Fe County represent 25.3% of the population. The U.S. Census projects that New Mexico's population of those age 60 years and older will increase to 32.5% by the year 2030, compared to 25% in the country. If the current trends continue, Santa Fe County will have an even higher percentage of those 60 years and older than the projection of 32.5% for New Mexico in 2030.

The types of services and needs of older adults are varied and require increased attention. Medical complexity brought about by aging, accompanied by loss of function and growing isolation, can adversely impact the wellbeing of older adults. Opportunities for meaningful engagement, supportive services, and health care access can make a significant difference in the quality of life of older adults.

Barriers for older adults who are trying to access needed care include transportation, difficulty navigating multiple service entities, financial burdens, competing family responsibilities, and lack of social support. Currently, there are not enough services to assist the existing older population. Increased capacity is needed to support today's older adults and to meet the growing demand as this segment of the population grows.



Source: U.S. Census

How Are We Doing?

Just over 85% of Santa Fe residents aged 65 years and over reported having a routine health visit in a year's time—which is slightly below the percentage for New Mexicans in the same age range. Routine health visits are an opportunity for a provider to review medications, check on health concerns, discuss lifestyle topics, and recommend any screenings or tests.¹²⁹

Of New Mexicans aged 65 years and older, 91% are at risk for social isolation. The U.S. Census Bureau calculates the percentile of those age 65 and older who are at risk for social isolation if they live in poverty, have a disability, live alone, are divorced, separated, or widowed, are never married, and have difficulty living independently.

Nearly a quarter (24.8%) of Santa Fe adults provide regular care for a family member or a friend. The largest percentage are giving care to their mother (21%). Nearly half of caregivers have been providing care for two or more years, and two-thirds are spending up to eight hours a week providing care. Over 10% of caregivers provide more than 40 hours a week. The amount and length of time providing care may increase the stress and burden felt by the caregiver which negatively impacts the caregiver and the one receiving the care.





Source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2019



Source: U.S. Census



Source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2017

What Is the Story Behind the Data?

There are several stages to the aging process, and it does not necessarily follow a linear path. To adequately address healthy aging, it is essential to address the unique, while interconnected needs of each stage. It is key for those in the independence and interdependence stages to focus on maintaining healthy habits and routines with an emphasis on delaying the onset of "age-related" illnesses. The longer individuals can live mostly independently with a high quality of life, the more satisfied they will be.

Stages of Aging

Independence Interdependence Dependency

Crisis Management End of Life

Adults don't all experience aging the same way. In addition to individual genetic factors and existing health conditions, social determinants also influence the aging process. Some of those include:

- Previous and current household income
- Precarious vs. stable housing
- Access to healthcare
- Access to healthy food
- Past psychological trauma or behavioral health diagnosis
- Social relationships—friends and family
- Location/proximity to resources

Of Santa Fe County adults aged 65 years and older, 9% live in poverty. The percent is slightly higher (10.43%) for Santa Fe County women in the same age group.¹³⁰ Individuals experiencing poverty or that are classified as low-income are more likely to experience adverse health outcomes, including shorter life expectancy and higher death rates.¹³¹

Individuals who struggle with social determinant of health-related factors are at risk of experiencing poor health, morbidity, and mortality. For older adults in particular, social determinant of health factors can significantly impact their health and aging experience, especially their ability to live independently and age in place.¹³² Conversely, the availability of community-based resources and transportation options for older adults can positively affect health status. Studies have shown that increased levels of social support are associated with a lower risk for physical disease, mental illness, and premature death.¹³³

All the participants in our Healthy Aging Focus Group identified lack of services as a concern in our community. This concern indicated needs across the spectrum of aging adults, from more active older adults looking to maintain their current health to those with significant limitations. Lack of services and a vital caregiving workforce impacts the priority indicators identified for our community's older adults which includes routine access to care, isolation, and caregiver burden.

Routine access to healthcare helps older adults maintain a healthy lifestyle and manage any chronic conditions. For those with known health conditions, routine visits can provide an opportunity to monitor the condition(s) and adjust treatment(s) as needed. Regular and routine healthcare visits may prolong an individual's independence and delay needing advanced care. Focus group participants identified transportation as a barrier to care—particularly to medical appointments. Santa Fe has limited public transportation options, particularly if someone is struggling financially.

Research has linked social isolation and loneliness to higher risks for a variety of physical and mental conditions including high blood pressure, heart disease, obesity, a weakened immune system, anxiety, depression, cognitive decline, Alzheimer's disease, and even death.¹³⁴ The effects of isolation are compounded as home care agencies have long waiting lists, and for some the cost of receiving home health services is prohibitive. In these situations, those needing services are "lucky" if they have friends or family who can provide some of the needed services. The level of needs and time commitment required can be too much for many friends and family. For some, they are juggling providing care along with jobs and young family. For others, they also are older adults and the help required can be physically taxing.

The older you are, the more likely you are going to need long-term care. Women outlive men by about five years on average, so they are more likely than men to live at home alone when they are older. Chronic conditions such as diabetes and high blood pressure increase the likelihood of needing care. Poor diet and exercise increase the chances of needing long-term care. Those who live alone are more likely to need paid care than those who are married or single with a partner.¹³⁵

Only 37% of people think they will need long-term care, but 69% will need it.136 Santa Fe County and the surrounding northern New Mexico counties have limited access to long term care options. In Santa Fe, there are only two skilled nursing facilities and zero long-term acute care facilities. There are 22 home care agencies, but all are struggling for staff, and many older adults cannot afford the services. As a result of the limited options for paid caregivers, many older adults must rely on informal (i.e. family and friends) caregivers and this solution has its own challenges.

In the U.S.:

51% will use nursing homes **86%** will use an informal caregiver **61%** will use home health care **19%** will use assisted living¹³⁶

Regardless of the age of the caregiver, providing the level of support needed may be emotionally and mentally exhausting. When caregivers feel burdened, there are negative consequences for both the caregiver and the older adult. The caregiver's own health may start to decline because they do not have time to focus on their physical and mental health. Once the caregiver's health declines, it places the older adult in possible jeopardy because they depend on the caregiver. Additionally, in severe cases, the caregiver may begin to neglect or harm the older adult they are caring for because they either are having their own health issues or because they become resentful of the time and care that is required of them.

COVID-19 Impact

Older adults are at increased risk for negative health outcomes if they contract COVID-19. This means that older adults with COVID-19 might need hospitalization, intensive care, or a ventilator, or they might even die. The risk of severe illness increases for people in their 50s and then increases further in 60s, 70s, and 80s. People 85 and older are the most likely to get very sick.¹³⁷ In 2020 and 2021, many older adults avoided attending routine health visits because of concerns of contracting COVID-19. While CSV and other community healthcare providers expanded access to telehealth visits, many older adults reported not having the technology and/or Internet access to utilize these video visits. Additionally, others reported not being comfortable having healthcare visits over video.

COVID-19 also was reported as a factor in increasing isolation. In addition to the previously presented data, focus group participants reported that isolation is a significant problem for our community's older adults. Because of COVID-19, area senior centers closed and most other social activities were paused to prevent the spread of the virus among more vulnerable populations. For some, poor mental or physical health leaves individuals homebound with little support, which can worsen those conditions.

According to a review article from the Journal of International Aging Research, early COVID-19 research suggests that the pandemic has worsened caregiver burden. It has increased caregiving intensity and hours of care among unpaid, informal family caregivers. Some of the reported health impacts include higher stress, pain, and depression, along with decreased social connectedness and quality of life. The article's authors did note that generally research has not focused on the possible positive aspects of caregiving like its role as a source of purpose in life or creating an opportunity to explore ways to boost certain valuable personal resources among caregivers.¹³⁸ We don't know, presently, the complete impact that COVID-19 has had on caregivers.



Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the many individual professionals who contributed their time to collect data, review drafts, edit the document, and to provide their professional expertise.

CHNA Report Preparation Team

This report was developed under the direction and guidance of the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Department of Community Health. The following individuals contributed to the data collection, analysis, writing, and editing of this report.

Kathy Armijo-Etre, PhD, Vice President of Mission

Jesse Cirolia, MSW, Director of Community Health and Engagement, Anchorum St. Vincent

Heather Hunter, Communications Manager, Anchorum St. Vincent

Natalie Skogerboe, MPA, Aspen Solutions

Kathleen Tunney, MA, Manager of Community Health

Health Indicator Café

We thank the over 50 individuals who participated in the Health Indicator Café—dozens of community organizations were represented as well as the City of Santa Fe and Santa Fe County.

Key Informant Interviews

We thank the individuals who generously gave their time and shared their expertise through Key Informant Interviews. Thank you to Miguel Acosta, Earth Care; Andrea Verswijver, former CSV Violence Response and Resiliency Specialist; and Leila Kelly, CSV Violence Response and Resiliency Specialist.

Focus Groups

We acknowledge our focus group participants for sharing their personal and/or professional experiences—"helping to tell the story behind the data." Your sharing deepened our understanding of our community's health needs. In addition to all of the individuals who participated, we would like to recognize Santa Fe County Health Policy and Planning Commission, Santa Fe County Teen Court, Santa Fe County CONNECT, Santa Fe County Behavioral Health Leadership Team, CSV Case Management and Care Coordination, and the CSV Health Equity Index Workgroup for their partnership in conducting focus groups.

Community Partners

We thank all of our many community partners for your willingness to work together in identifying critical health issues, the contribution of your immense expertise and time, and most of all, your shared commitment to improving the health and well-being of our community.

We are grateful for our partnerships with Anchorum St. Vincent, the St. Vincent Foundation, the Santa Fe Community Foundation, Santa Fe County particularly Rachel O'Connor, Director of Community Services, the City of Santa Fe particularly Kyra Ochoa, Director, Community Health and Safety Department. The important work underway in our community would not be possible without you.

Community Health Funder Alliance Health Impact Grantees

We appreciate our Community Health Impact Grantees' dedication to serving our community through high-quality care and programs. Their work is essential to improving our community's health. Health Impact Grantees include: Casa Milagro, Coming Home Connection, Esperanza Shelter, Gerard's House, Interfaith Community Shelter Group, Kitchen Angels, La Familia Medical Center, Las Cumbres Community Services, Mesa to Mesa, The Mountain Center, Santa Fe Public Schools-Adelante Program, The Sky Center, Solace Crisis Treatment Center, St. Elizabeth's Shelter, and Youth Shelters & Family Services.

CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board Of Directors

We gratefully acknowledge the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Community Health and Wellness Board Members including Shelia Conneen, Sandra Forquer-Dransfield, Jesus Garza, David Gonzales, MD, Marco Gonzales, Randy Grissom, Jerry Jones, Monica Leyba, Lillian Montoya, Mark Puczynski, MD, Sister Ethel Puno, Wendy Trevisani, and Sayuri Yamada for advising the CHNA process. Additionally, we appreciate the ongoing support of the CHRISTUS St. Vincent Board of Directors including: Lindsey Bradley, Jesus Garza, Charles Goodman, Bud Hamilton, Jerry Jones, Daya Singh Khalsa, Mary Macukas, Lillian Montoya, Antoinette Patnode, Mark Puczynski, MD, Sister Ethel Puno, Randy Safady, Wendy Trevisani, Lauren Waltersdorf, and Sayuri Yamada. The commitment of these individuals to improving the health and well-being of our community is unwavering.

Anchorum St. Vincent

We thank Anchorum St. Vincent for their valued partnership, financial contributions, and support to improve the health and wellness of the community.

Endnotes

- 1 National Center For Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2018). Health Equity. Retrieved from: https://cdc.gov/chronicdisease/healthequity/ index.htm
- 2 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Social Determinants of Health: Know What Affects Health. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/ Socialdeterminants/Index.htm
- 3 Adler, N.E., & Newman, K. (2002). Socioeconomic disparities in health: Pathways and policies. *Health Affairs*, 60–76.
- 4 Walker, R.E., Keane, C.R., & Burke, J.G. (2010). Disparities and access to healthy food in the United States: A review of food deserts literature. *Health and Place*, 16(5) 876-884.
- 5 Saegert, S., & Evans, G.W. (2003). Poverty, housing niches, and health in the United States. *Journal of Social Issues*, 59, 569-589.
- 6 Haozous, E.A., Valerie, R., & Burton, S. (2017). Health Impact Assessment; Examining the Health Effects of HIS Underfunding on the Santa Fe Urban Indian Community.
- 7 Greene, D. (2019). YRRS Presentation on High-Risk Students Health Inequities Presentation. *New Mexico Department of Health.*
- 8 New Mexico Department Of Health. (2022). Covid-19 in New Mexico. Retrieved from: https://cvprovider. nmhealth.org/public-dashboard.html
- 9 American Public Health Association. (2016). *Climate Change and Health Strategic Plan.* Retrieved from: https:// www.apha.org/-/media/files/pdf/topics/climate/apha_ climate_change_strategic_plan.ashx
- 10 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Climate Effects on Health.* Retrieved from: https:// www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/effects/default. htm#:~:Text=The%20health%20effects%20of%20 these,And%20threats%20to%20mental%20health.
- 11 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *Regional Health Impacts—Southwest.* Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/effects/ southwest.htm
- 12 Response, A. (2019). Washington State Family Policy Council Adverse Childhood Experiences. Retrieved from: http:// aceresponse.org/give_your_support/Washington_ State_Family_Policy_Council_19_52_sb.htm
- 13 Dube, S.R., Felitti, V.J., Dong, M., Chapman, D.P., Giles, W.H., & Anda, R.F. (2003). Childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction and the risk of illicit drug use: the adverse childhood experiences study. *Pediatrics*, 111(3), 564-572.

- 14 Chapman, D.P., Whitfield, C.L., Felitti, V.J., Dube, S.R., Edwards, V.J. Anda, R.F. (2004). Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood. *Journal of Affect Disorders*, 82(2), 217-225.
- 15 Grace, A.A. (2010). Dopamine System Dysregulation by the Ventral Subiculum as the Common Pathophysiological Basis for Schizophrenia Psychosis, Psychostimulant, Abuse, and Stress. *Neurotox Res*, 18(3-4), 367-376.
- 16 Teicher, M. H., Samson, J.A., Polcari, A., 7 Anderson, S.L. (2009). Length of time between onset of childhood sexual abuse and emergence of depression in a young adult sample. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 70(5), 684-691.
- 17 New Mexico Epidemiology. (2021). *Adverse Childhood Experience (ACES) Among New Mexico Adults: Results from the NM BRFSS, 2019.* Retrieved from: https://www. nmhealth.org/data/view/report/2508/
- 18 The Child & Adolescent Measurement Initiative. (2021). New Mexico Fact Sheet. Retrieved from: https:// www.cahmi.org/docs/default-source/resources/2021aces-fact-sheets/cahmi-state-fact-sheet---nm. pdf?sfvrsn=f632bbc0_2
- 19 Indian Health Service. (2019). *Albuquerque Area, health care facilities, Santa Fe Service Unit.* Retrieved from: https://www.ihs.gov/
- 20 National Council of Urban Indian Health. (2022). *Tribal Leaders Highlight Need for Increased Urban Indian Health Funding in Fiscal Year 2024 Area Reports*. Retrieved from: https://ncuih.org/2022/02/07/tribal-leaders-highlightneed-for-increased-urban-indian-health-funding-infiscal-year-2024-area-reports/
- 21 New Mexico Indian Affairs Department. (2021). *Overcoming the Distance: New Mexico Tribal Behavioral and Mental Health Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic.* Retrieved from: https://www.iad.state.nm.us/ wp-content/uploads/2021/05/NMIAD_NBII_FINAL_ REPORT.pdf
- 22 Albuquerque Area Southwest Tribal Epidemiology Center. (2020). *American Indian High School Students: YRRS 2019 Summary.* Retrieved from: https://www. aastec.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2019-NMYRRS-HIGH-SCHOOL-REPORT.pdf
- 23 Albuquerque Area Southwest Tribal Epidemiology Center. (2020). *American Indian Middle School Students: YRRS 2019 Summary.* Retrieved from: https://www. aastec.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2019-NMYRRS-MIDDLE-SCHOOL-REPORT.pdf

- 24 U.S. News and World Report. (2020). *COVID-19's Tragic Effect on American Indians: A State-by-State Analysis.* Retrieved from: https://www.usnews.com/news/ healthiest-communities/articles/2020-10-07/a-stateby-state-analysis-of-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-nativeamericans
- 25 New Mexico's Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance
 System Data. *General Health Status NM-IBIS website.*(2022). Retrieved from: https://ibis.health.state.nm.us/
 query/result/brfss/FairPoorHlth/FairPoorHlthAA11_.html
- 26 Census, U. (2021). *QuickFacts.* Retrieved from: www. census.gov/quickfacts
- 27 New Mexico Department of Health. (2019). *Health Equity in New Mexico, 13th Edition.* Retrieved from: https://www.nmhealth.org/publication/view/ report/2045/
- 28 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Health.* Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/lgbthealth/ about.htm
- 29 New Mexico Department of Health. (2018). *Addressing the Hea*th Needs of Sex and Gender Minorities in New Mexico. Retrieved from: https://www.nmhealth. org/publication/view/report/4514
- 30 True Colors United. (2022). *Our Issue*. Retrieved from: https://truecolorsunited.org/our-issue/#:~:text=It's%20 estimated%20that%20about%207,youth%20 experiencing%20homelessness%20are%20LGBTQ.
- 31 Center on the Developing Child, Harvard University. (2022). *What is Early Childhood Development? A Guide to the Science.* Retrieved from: https://developingchild. harvard.edu/guide/what-is-early-childhooddevelopment-a-guide-to-the-science/
- 32 Melmed, M. (2016) *High Quality Childcare: A Critical Ingredient for Nurturing Success.* Zero to Three. Retrieved from: https://www.zerotothree.org/ resources/1492-high-quality-childcare-a-criticalingredient-for-nurturing-success
- 33 Aziz, Homoayara, MD. University of Maryland Baltimore Washington Medical Center. (2018). *Why Prenatal Care is Important for Mom and Baby.* Retrieved from: https://www.umms.org/bwmc/news/2018/whyprenatal-care-is-important-for-mom-and-baby
- 34 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). Office of Women's Health: Prenatal Care Fact Sheet. Retrieved from: https://www.womenshealth. gov/a-z-topics/prenatal-care
- 35 World Health Organization. (2018). *Survive and Thrive: Transforming Care for Every Small and Sick Newborn: Key Findings.*

- 36 Mathewson, K., Schmidt, L., & Van Lieshout, R. (2017). Extremely low birthweight babies at higher risk of mental health problems. *Midwives*, 20(2), 38-39.
- 37 New Mexico Environmental Public Health Tracking (2018). *Low Birth Weight*. Retrieved from: https:// nmtracking.org/epht/epht-view/health/reproductive/ LowBirthWeight.html
- 38 Dennis, J.A., & Mollborn, S. (2013).Young maternal age and low birth weight risk: An exploration of racial/ ethnic disparities in the birth outcomes of mothers in the United States. *The Social Science Journal*, 50(4), 625-634.
- 39 Aras, R. Y. (2013). Is maternal age risk factor for low birth weight? *Archives of Medicine and Health Sciences* (1), 33-37.
- 40 March of Dimes. (2019). *Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome* (*NAS*). Retrieved from: https://www.marchofdimes.org/ complications/neonatal-abstinence-syndrome-(nas).aspx
- 41 Rodriguez, J.J., & Smith, V.C. (2018). Prenatal Opioid and Alcohol Exposure: Understanding Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome and Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders to Safeguard Maternal and Child Outcomes. ZERO TO THREE. 38(5), 23-28.
- 42 Kelly, L.E., Jansson, L.M., Moulsdale, W., Pereira, J., Simpson, S., Guttman, A., ... Offringa, M. (2016). A core outcome set for neonatal abstinence syndrome: study protocol for a systemic review, parent interviews, and a Delphi Survey. *Trials 17*(1).
- 43 Shearer, J.N., Davis, S.K., Erwin, P.C., Anderson, J.G., & Lindley, L.C. (2018). Neonatal abstinence syndrome and neurodevelopmental health outcomes: A state of the science. *Journal of Nursing*, 24(5), 242-246.
- 44 Patrick, S.W., Davis, M. M., Lehmann, C.U., Cooper, W.O. (2015). Increasing incidence and geographic distribution of neonatal abstinence syndrome. United States 2009 to 2012. *Journal of Perinatology*, 35(8), 650-655.
- 45 Stanford Medicine Children's Health. (2019). *Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome*. Retrieved from: https://www. stanfordchildrens.org/en/topic/default?id=neontalabstinence-syndrome-90-P02387
- 46 Seattle Children's Hospital. (2019). *The Long-Term Outcomes of Infants with NAS.* Retrieved from: https:// www.seattlechildrens.org/healthcare-professionals/ education/continuing-medical-nursing-education/ neonatal-nursing-education-briefs/long-termoutcomes-of-infants-with-nas/
- 47 Shah, J.S, Revere, F.L., & Toy, E. C. (2018). Improving Rates of Early Entry Prenatal Care in an Underserved Population. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 22(12), 1738-1742.

- 48 Howard, H. (2015). Reducing Stigma: Lessons from Opioid-Dependent Women. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions, 15*(4), 418-438.
- 49 Reproductive Health. (2021) *The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Maternal and Perinatal Health: A Scoping Review.* Retrieved from: https://reproductive-healthjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12978-021-01070-6
- 50 Mexico Department of Health. (2020). *New Mexico Birth Certificate Database.* Retrieved from: https://ibis. health.state.nm.us/query/result/birth/BirthCntyPop/ FertRate.html
- 51 National Library of Medicine. (2020). *Decreased Incidence of Preterm Birth during Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic*. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7560115/
- 52 National Library of Medicine (2022). *Impact of Lockdown Measures during COVID-19 Pandemic on Pregnancy and Preterm Birth.* Retrieved from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34775579/
- 53 PLOS ONE. (2022). Changes in fetal growth restriction and retinopathy of prematurity during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: A cross-sectional study Retrieved from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/ article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0265147
- 54 medRxiv. (2021). Changes in Live Births, Preterm Birth, Low Birth Weight, and Cesarean Deliveries in the United States during the SARSS_CoV-2 Pandemic. Retrieved from: https://www.medrxiv.org/ content/10.1101/2021.03.20.21253990v1
- 55 Center for Health Care Strategies. (2020). *COVID-19 and the Decline of Well-Child Care: Implications for Children, Families, and States.* Retrieved from: https://www.chcs. org/resource/covid-19-and-the-decline-of-well-childcare-implications-for-children-families-and-states/
- 56 Child Care Relief. (2020). *By the Numbers: COVID-19's Impact on Child Care.* Retrieved from: https:// childcarerelief.org/states/new-mexico/
- 57 Hawkins, J., & Catalano, R. (2010). Investing in your community's youth: an introduction to communities that care system, 2005: Communities That Care.
- 58 Metzl, J.M. & Hansen, H. (2014). Structural competency: Theorizing a new medical engagement with stigma and inequality. Social Science & Medicine, 103, 126-133.
- 59 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). Fatal Injury Data from Web-based Inquiry Statistics Query and Reporting System (WISQARS). Retrieved from: www. cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/fatal.html

- 60 Pinto, M.D., Hickman, R., Logsdon, M.C., & Burant, C. (2012). Psychometric evaluations of the revised attribution questionnaire (r-AQ) to measure mental illness stigma in adolescents. *Journal of Nursing Measurement, 20* (1), 47-58.
- 61 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities. (2020). *Teen Substance Use & Risks*. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/ features/teen-substance-use.html#:~:text=Risks%20 of%20Substance%20Use&text=Affect%20the%20 growth%20and%20development,blood%20 pressure%2C%20and%20sleep%20disorders.
- 62 Chinali, M., de Simone, G., Roman, M.J., Lee, E.T., Best, L.G., Howard, B.V., & Devereux, R.B. (2006). Impact of Obesity on Cardiac Geometry and Function in a Population of Adolescents: The Strong Heart Study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 41(11), 2267-2273.
- 63 Cote, A.T., Harris, K.C., Panagiotopoulos, C., Sandor, G.G.S., & Devlin, A.M. (2013). Childhood Obesity and Cardiovascular Dysfunction. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 62*(15), 1309-1319.
- 64 Hanevold, C., Waller, J., Daniels, S., Portman, R., & Sorof, J. (2004). The effects of obesity, gender, and ethnic group on left ventricular hypertrophy and geometry in hypertensive children: a collaborative study of the international pediatric hypertension association. *Pediatrics(2)*, 328-333.
- 65 Erikson, S.J., Robinson, T.N., Haydel, K.F., & Killen, J.D. (2000). Are Overweight Children Unhappy: Body Mass Index, Depressive Symptoms, and Overweight Concerns in Elementary School Children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 154*(9), 931-935.
- 66 Strauss, R.S. (2000). Childhood Obesity and Selfesteem. *Pediatrics*, 105(1), -e15.
- 67 Swallen, K.C., Reither, E.N., Haas, S.A., & Meier, A.M. (2005). Overweight, obesity, and health-related quality of life among adolescents: the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Pediatrics(2)*, 340-347.
- 68 Luthar, S.S., (2003). *Resilience and vulnerability: adaptation in the context of childhood adversities.* Cambridge, U.K.: New York: Cambridge University of Press.
- 69 Werner, E.E. (2013). What can we learn about resilience from large-scale longitudinal studies? *Handbook of resilience in children* (pp. 87-102): Springer.

- 70 New Mexico Public Education Department, New Mexico Department of Health, & University of New Mexico Prevention Research Center. (2019). *New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey (YRRS)*. Retrieved from: http:// youthrisk.org/
- 71 youth.gov. (2022). Risk and Protective Factors. Retrieved from: https://youth.gov/youth-topics/riskand-protective-factors
- 72 Hughes, M., & Tucker, W. (2018). Poverty as an Adverse Childhood Experience. *NCMedicalJournal.com*, VOL 79 NO2 124-126. Retrieved from: https://www. ncmedicaljournal.com/content/ncm/79/2/124.full.pdf
- 73 True Colors United. (2022). Retrieved from: https:// truecolorsunited.org/our-issue/
- 74 American Community Survey. (2022). *Disconnected Youth.* Retrieved from: https://metop.io/place/ county/35049/?chart=true&topic=DCY
- 75 2019 YRRS Presentation on High-Risk Students, Dan Greene, NM DOH
- 76 JAMA Network. (2021). Association of Children's Physical Activity and Screen Time With Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Retrieved from: https:// jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/ fullarticle/2784611
- 77 Dunton, G.F., Do, B. & Wang, S.D. Early effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and sedentary behavior in children living in the U.S.. *BMC Public Health*20, 1351 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09429-3 Retrieved from: https://bmcpublichealth.
 biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-020-09429-3#citeas
- 78 Psychiatry Advisor. (2021). *Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Adolescent Mental Health.* https://www. psychiatryadvisor.com/home/topics/child-adolescentpsychiatry/adolescent-mental-health-issues-arefurther-exacerbated-by-the-covid-19-pandemic/
- 79 National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2022). *COVID-19 and Substance Abuse*. Retrieved from: https://nida.nih.gov/ drug-topics/comorbidity/covid-19-substance-use
- 80 Holistic Primary Care. (2019). Early Childhood Trauma Raises Adolescent Obesity Risk. Retrieved from: https://holisticprimarycare.net/topics/chronic-disease/ aces-raise-adolescent-obesity-risk/
- 81 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *The Critical Need for a Population Health Approach: Addressing the Nation's Behavioral Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond.* Retrieved: https:// www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0261.htm

- 82 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *About Mental Health.* Retrieved from: https://www.cdc. gov/mentalhealth/learn/index.htm
- 83 American Psychiatric Association. (2020). *What is Substance Use Disorder*. Retrieved from: https://www. psychiatry.org/patients-families/addiction/what-isaddiction
- 84 Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2021). *Mental Health.* Retrieved from: https:// www.healthypeople.gov/2020/leading-healthindicators/2020-lhi-topics/Mental-Health
- 85 National Association of County and City Health Officials (2022). *Drug Overdose Epidemic* Retrieved from: https:// www.naccho.org/programs/community-health/ injury-andviolence/opioidepidemic#:~:text=The%20 overdose%20epidemic%20is%20a,death%2C%20 lost%20productivity%20and%20avoidable
- 86 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). Deaths from Excessive Alcohol Use in the United States. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/features/ excessive-alcohol-deaths.html
- 87 Child Welfare Information Gateway (2021). *The Opioid Crisis*. Retrieved from: https://www.childwelfare.gov/ topics/systemwide/bhw/impact-substance/opioid-crisis/
- 88 Program Evaluation Unite, Legislative Finance Committee. (2021). Progress Report: Addressing Substance Use Disorders. Retrieved from: https:// www.nmlegis.gov/Entity/LFC/Documents/Program_ Evaluation_Reports/Progress%20Report%20-%20 Addressing%20Substance%20Use%20Disorders.pdf
- 89 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021) *Facts About Suicide.* Retrieved from: https://www. cdc.gov/suicide/facts/index.html#:~:text=The%20 financial%20toll%20of%20suicide,and%20 work%2Dloss%20costs%20alone
- 90 Lieving, B. (2021). *Drug Trends in New Mexico & Opioid Overdose Recognition & Response.* Office of Substance Abuse Prevention, New Mexico Department of Health.
- 91 State Health Access Data Assistance Center (2021). The United States' Quiet Crisis of Growing Alcohol Deaths. Retrieved from: https://www.shadac.org/publications/ state-national-alcohol-involved-death-rates-2006-2019
- 92 American Psychiatric Association (2018). *Suicide Prevention.* Retrieved from: https://www.psychiatry. org/patients-families/suicide-prevention
- 93 American Medical Association. (2021). *Issue brief: Nation's drug-related overdose and death epidemic continues to worsen.* Retrieved from: https://www.amaassn.org/system/files/issue-brief-increases-in-opioidrelated-overdose.pdf

- 94 World Health Organization. (2022). *COVID-19 pandemic triggers 25% increase in prevalence of anxiety and depression worldwide*. Retrieved from: https://www. who.int/news/item/02-03-2022-covid-19-pandemictriggers-25-increase-in-prevalence-of-anxiety-anddepression-worldwide
- 95 National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2022). *COVID-19 and Substance Abuse*. Retrieved from: https://nida.nih.gov/ drug-topics/comorbidity/covid-19-substance-use
- 96 Hacker KA, Briss PA, Richardson L, Wright J, Petersen R. COVID-19 and Chronic Disease: The Impact Now and in the Future. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:210086. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/21_0086. htm#:~:text=COVID%2D19%20has%20resulted%20 in,of%20the%20pandemic%20(14).
- 97 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *Know Your Risk for Heart Disease*. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/risk_factors.htm
- 98 National Cancer Institute. (2015). *Risk Factors for Cancer*. Retrieved from: https://www.cancer.gov/aboutcancer/causes-prevention/risk
- 99 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. (2021). BRFSS New Mexico's Indicator-Based Information System (NM-IBIS). Retrieved from: https://ibis.health. state.nm.us
- 100 National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. (2016). *Risk Factors for Type 2 Diabetes.* Retrieved from: https://www.niddk.nih.gov/ health-information/diabetes/overview/risk-factorstype-2-diabetes
- 101 National Vital Statistics System-Mortality (NVSS-M) (CDC Wonder). (2022). *Diabetes Mortality by Race/Ethnicity 2014-2018 in Santa Fe County, NM.* Retrieved from: https://metop.io/place/ county/35049/?chart=true&topic=MYH
- 102 PLACES, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. (2021). *Percentage of Santa Fe County, NM adults without Health Insurance*. Retrieved from: https:// metop.io/place/county/35049/?chart=true&topic=NHI
- 103 American Community Survey. (2022). *Below 150%* of Poverty Level in Santa Fe County, NM 2016-2020. Retrieved from: https://metop.io/place/ county/35049/?chart=true&topic=PVB
- 104 USDA. (2022). *Living in Food Deserts in Santa Fe New Mexico, 2019.* Retrieved from: https://metop.io/ place/place/3570500/?chart=true&topic=FOA
- 105 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *COVID-19: COVID Data Tracker Weekly Review.* Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/ covid-data/covidview/index.html

- 106 New Mexico Department of Health. (2022). COVID-19 in New Mexico. Retrieved from: https://cv.nmhealth.org/
- 107 American Psychological Association. (2021). One Year Later, A New Wave of Pandemic Health Concerns. Retrieved from: https://www.apa.org/news/press/ releases/stress/2021/one-year-pandemic-stress
- 108 World Health Organization. (2019). *Women's Health. Health Topics.* Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/ topics/womens_health/en/
- 109 Fontenot, K., Semega, J., & Kollar, M. (2018). Income and poverty United States: 2017. *Washington DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.*
- 110 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *Violence Prevention.* Retrieved from: https://www.cdc. gov/violenceprevention/index.html
- 111 Garcia-Moreno, C., Jansen, H., Ellsberg, M., Heise,
 L., & Watts, C. (2005). WHO multi-country study
 on women's health and domestic violence against
 women. *Geneva: World Health Organization, 204,* 1-18.
- 112 Center for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2019). Preventing Intimate Partner Violence. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov.violenceprevention/ intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact.html
- 113 Appel, A.E., & Holden, G.W. (1998). The co-occurrence of spouse and physical child abuse: a review an appraisal. Journal of Family Psychology, 12(4), 578-599.
- 114 RAINN. (2022). Scope of the Problem: Statistics: Everyone is Affected by Sexual Violence. Retrieved from: https://www.rainn.org/statistics
- 115 Lewis, J.H., Anderson, R.M., & Gelberg, L. (2003).
 Health care for homeless women: Unmet needs and barriers to care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *18*(11), 921-928.
- 116 Caponera, B. (2021). Incidence and Nature of Domestic Violence In New Mexico XIX: An Analysis of 2020 Data From The New Mexico Interpersonal Violence Data Central Repository.: New Mexico Coalition of Sexual Assault Programs.
- 117 Lucchesi, A., & Echo-Hawk, A. (2018). Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls: A snapshot of data from 71 urban cities in the United States.
- 118 Esperanza Shelter. (2022). *Our Hope for Tomorrow: Annual Report 2021 Fiscal Year 2020–2021* Retrieved from: https://esperanzashelter.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/11/FY-20-21-Annual-Report-PDF-Version.pdf
- 119 Solace Crisis Treatment Center 2020-2021 Annual Report.

- 120 Santa Fe Homeless and Housing Needs: Marisol Atkins 2020.09.18
- 121 Caponera, B. (2019). Incidence and Nature of Domestic Violence In New Mexico XVIII: An Analysis of 2018 Data From The New Mexico Interpersonal Violence Data Central Repository.: New Mexico Coalition of Sexual Assault Programs.
- 122 Robertson, M.J., & Winkleby, M.A. (1996). Mental Health Problems of Homeless Women and Differenced Across Subgroups. *Annual Review of Public Health, 17,* 311-336.
- 123 Mental Illness Policy Org. (2017). 250,000 Mentally III Are Homeless. 140,000 Seriously Mentally III Are Homeless. Retrieved from: https:// mentalillnesspolicy.org/consequences /homelessmentally-ill.html
- 124 Urbanoski, K., Veldhuizen, S., Krausz, M., Schutz, C., Somers, J.M., Kirst, M.,... Strehlau, V. (2018). Effects of comorbid substance use disorders on outcomes in a Housing First intervention for homeless people with mental illness. *Addiction*, 113 (1), 137-145.
- 125 Caponera, B. (2021). Sex Crimes Trends in New Mexico XVIII: An Analysis of 2020 Data from The New Mexico Interpersonal Violence Data Central Repository.: New Mexico Coalition of Sexual Assault Programs.
- 126 Kluger, J. (2021). Domestic Violence is a Pandemic within the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Time.* Retrieved from: https://time.com/5928539/domestic-violencecovid-19/
- 127 Solace Crisis Treatment Center. (2021). *Learn About Sexual Violence*. Retrieved from: https://www. findsolace.org/copy-of-seek-support
- 128 Esperanza Shelter. (2021). *Transforming Lives: Annual Report 2020 Fiscal Year 2019–2020* Retrieved from: https://esperanzashelter.org/wp-content/ uploads/2022/02/Esperanza-2020-Annual-Report.pdf
- 129 Mayo Clinic. (2017). *Mayo Clinic Q and A: Do healthy older adults need regular health care visits*? Retrieved from: https://newsnetwork.mayoclinic.org/ discussion/mayo-clinic-q-and-a-do-healthy-olderadults-need-regular-health-care-visits/

- 130 American Community Survey. (2022). *Poverty Rate in Santa Fe County, NM 2016-2020.* Retrieved from: https://metop.io/place/ county/35049/?chart=true&topic=POV
- 131 AAFP. (2021). Poverty and Health—The Family Medicine Perspective (Position Paper). Retrieved from: https:// www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/poverty-health.html
- 132 IMPAQ. (2018). *Social Determinants of Health and the Aging Population.* Retrieved from: https://impaqint. com/work/issue-briefs/social-determinants-healthand-aging-population
- 133 Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion.
 (2022). Social Determinants Across the Life Stages.
 Retrieved from: https://www.healthypeople.
 gov/2020/leading-health-indicators/2020-lhi-topics/
 Social-Determinants/determinants
- 134 National Institute on Aging. (2019). Social isolation, Ioneliness in older people pose health risks. Retrieved from: https://www.nia.nih.gov/news/ social-isolation-loneliness-older-people-posehealthrisks#:~:text=Research%20has%20linked%20 social%20isolation,Alzheimer's%20disease%2C%20 and%20even%20death.
- 135 Longtermcare.gov. (2020). *Who Needs Care?*. Retrieved from: https://acl.gov/ltc/basic-needs/who-needs-care
- 136 Seniorcare.com. (2022). America Has A Major Misconception About Aging. Retrieved from: https:// www.seniorcare.com/featured/misconception-onaging/
- 137 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *COVID-19 Risks and Vaccine Information for Older Adults*. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/aging/covid19/ covid19-older-adults.html#:~:text=Increased%20 Risk%20of%20Severe%20Illness%20from%20 COVID%2D19,-Older%20adults%20are&text=The%20 risk%20increases%20for%20people,having%20 certain%20underlying%20medical%20conditions.
- 138 International Journal of Aging Research. (2021). *THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON INFORMAL CAREGIVERS IN THE US.* Retrieved from: https://escipub.org/index.php/ IJOAR/article/view/736